Biosynthesis, Characterization and Biological

Applications of Gold Nanoparticles



ASMA MUMTAZ Registration # 00000171286

Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences, National University of Sciences and Technology, Islamabad, Pakistan

2018

Biosynthesis, Characterization and Biological Application of Gold Nanoparticles

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the

degree of Master of Sciences

In

Healthcare Biotechnology

By

ASMA MUMTAZ

Registration # 00000171286

Supervised by: Dr. Rumeza Hanif

Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences,

National University of Sciences and Technology,

Islamabad, Pakistan.

2018

THESIS ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE

Certified that final copy of MS thesis written by Ms. Asma Mumtaz, (Registration No. NUST00000171286), of ASAB has been vetted by undersigned, found complete in all respects as per NUST status/regulations, is free of plagiarism, errors and mistakes and is accepted as partial fulfillment for award of MS/MPhil degree. It is further certified that necessary amendments as pointed out by GEC members of the scholar have also been incorporated in the said thesis.

Signature:	
Name of Supervisor:	

Date: _____

Signature (HOD): _	
--------------------	--

Date: _____

Signature (Dean/Principal):	
Date:	

CERTIFICATE FOR PLAGIARISM

It is to confirm that MS thesis entitled **biosynthesis**, **Characterization and Biological Application of Gold Nanoparticles** of **Ms. Asma Mumtaz**, Reg No. **NUST00000171286** has been examined by me. I undertake that:

1. The thesis has significant new work/knowledge as compared to already elsewhere. No sentence, table, equation, diagram, paragraph or section has been copied verbatim from previous work except when placed under quotation marks and duly referenced.

2. The work presented is original and own work if the author i.e. there is no plagiarism. No idea, results or words of others have been presented as author's own work.

3. There is no fabrication of data or results such that the research is not accurately represented in the records. The thesis has been checked using Turnitin (a copy of the originality report attached and found within the limits as per HEC plagiarism policy and instruction issued from time to time.

(Supervisor)

Dr. Rumeza Hanif

Assistant Professor, Healthcare Biotechnology

ASAB, NUST

Dedicated to

My Beloved Parents

Acknowledgement

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All grace and gratitude for the One Who doesn't leave me for the blink of an eye, Who listens to all my whims and woes and walks all roads with me; to the Almighty, the creator the Exalted.

I would like to express my gratitude to Rector NUST, esteemed Principal ASAB, Dr. Peter John, and HoD Healthcare Biotechnology, Dr. Attya Bhatti, for providing me an opportunity to complete my 2 years degree of MS Healthcare Biotechnology at ASAB.

I consider myself lucky to have a supervisor as accomplished as Dr. Rumeza Hanif. Other than my academic mentor, she is a constant source of information. Her door was always open whenever I ran into a trouble or had a question. This research would not have been completed without her unabated support, enthusiasm, patience and immense knowledge. Her constant guidance always steered me in right direction. This research work is a product of her perseverance.

I would express my sincere gratitude to my co-supervisor Dr. Dilawar Khan, for his valuable time and input in my research work. I would like to thank my GEC members Dr. Maria Shabbir, Dr. Faraz Bhatti and my external examiner Dr. Faheem Amin, School of Natural Sciences (SNS), NUST for their insightful comments and encouragement, which incented me to widen my research from various perspectives.

Furthermore, I would like to thank UG Plant Biotechnology laboratory of ASAB, Centre for Advanced Studies in Energy (CASEN) and School of Material Engineering (SCME) for providing me with equipments and guidance that made base of my research work.

I would also like to acknowledge efforts of my friends throughout my research work. I would like to thank Wajeeha Javed Khan, my colleague and really good friend, for putting up with me and stimulating discussions, that holds a significant position behind materialization of this research. I would also like to thank my friends Ayesha Javed, Aysha Bilal, Hamile Ali, Sadia Nasir, Sidra Asghar, Shanza Munir, Shama Shah, Ezza Maryam and Zahra Rafique for our long conversations, weekened laboratory plans and all the fun we had in last two years.

Acknowledgement

Finally, I express my sincere love and gratitude to the people behind my existence, my parents and family for providing me with unfailing support, continuous encouragement, love and prayers throughout my time at NUST. The person who has been fueling this journey, my father, my ideal in all spheres of life and meticulous efforts of my mother in making me the person I am today, this accomplishment would not have been possible with your support. My sister who make my survival easy, who bears my burden more than I bear it. I would like to especially thank my elder brother Abdul Hameed for listening to my rant, problems and providing me with best solutions. Ending with two hilarious, annoying little being for filling my days with bouts of laughter, my little brother.

Asma Mumtaz

CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	IV
LIST OF FIGURES	7
LIST OF TABLES	9
ABSTRACT	
INTRODUCTION	
1.1. Hypothesis of the Study	
1.2. Objectives of the study	
Literature Review	
2.1. Nanotechnology and Nanoparticles	
2.2. Properties of Nanoparticles	
2.2.1 Surface and size functionality	
2.2.2 Geometrical Structure	
2.2.3. Plasmon Resonance:	
2.3. Classification of Nanoparticles	
2.3.1 Organic Nanoparticle	
2.3.2. Carbon Based Nanoparticles	
2.3.3. Inorganic Nanoparticles	
2.4. Gold Nanoparticles	
2.5. Synthesis methods for Nanoparticles	
2.5.1. Synthesis by Microbes:	
2.6. Characterization Techniques	
2.6.1. Visual color change and UV/Vis Analysis	
2.6.2. Morphological Characterization	
2.6.3. Structural Characterization	

2.7. Applications in Biotechnology	
2.7.1. Bioimaging	
2.7.2. Therapeutics	
2.7.3. Drug Delivery Vehicle	
2.8. Cytotoxicity of AuNPs	
2.9. Antimicrobial activity of AuNPs	
Chapter 3	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1. Chemicals	
3.1.1. de Man, Rogosa and Sharpe Media (MRS)	
3.1.2. Nutrient Media	
3.2. Biosynthesis of Gold Nanoparticles (AuNPs)	
3.2.1. Isolation of Lactobacillus specie	
3.2.2. Sample Preparation	
3.2.3. Inoculation and Incubation	
3.3. Optimization of Physico-Chemical Parameters	
3.3.1. Effect of Concentration of Salt Solution	
3.3.2. Effect of Temperature	
3.3.3. Effect of Reaction Time	
3.4. Characterization of AuNPs	
3.4.1. UV/Vis Spectrophotometry	
3.4.2. Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) Spectroscopy	
3.4.3. X-Ray Diffraction (XRD)	
3.4.4. Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)	
3.4.5. Energy Dispersive X-Ray Spectroscopy (EDS)	

3.5. Antibacterial Activity	
3.5.1. Collection of Bacterial Isolates	
3.5.2. Preparation of Concentration of AuNPs	
3.5.3. Preparation of Cell Free Supernatant (CFS)	
3.5.4. Preparation of Media	
3.5.5. Inoculation of Bacterial Isolates	
3.5.6. Disc Diffusion Assay	
3.6. Antioxidant activity of AuNPs	40
Chapter 4	
RESULTS	
4.1. Morphological analysis of Lactobacillus rhamnosus HF1-K2	
4.2. Observation of color change as initial confirmation of AuNPs synthesis	
4.3. Confirmation by UV/Vis Spectral Analysis	
4.4. Optimization of Physico-chemical Parameters for AuNPs Biosynthesis	44
4.4.1. Effect of Gold Salt Solution	
4.4.2. Effect of Temperature	
4.4.3. Effect of Reaction time	
4.5. Characterization of AuNPs	
4.5.1. X-ray Diffraction Analysis	
4.5.2 Fourier Transformed Infrared (FTIR) Analysis	
4.5.3. Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) Analysis	
4.5.4 Energy Dispersive X-Ray Spectroscopy (EDS) Analysis	
4.6. Anti-bacterial Assay by Disc Diffusion	55
4.7. Antioxidant potential by DPPH assay	57
DISCUSSION	59

LIST OF ACRONYMS

0D	Zero Dimension
1D	One Dimension
2D	Two Dimensions
3D	Three Dimensions
nm	Nanometer
μm	Micrometer
NPs	Nanoparticles
SPR	Surface Plasmon Resonance
Au	Gold
AuNPs	Gold Nanoparticles
HAuCl ₄ .3H ₂ O	Chloroauric acid
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
AgNPs	Silver Nanoparticles
UV/Vis	Ultraviolet/Visible
FTIR	Fourier Transformed Infrared Spectroscopy
XRD	X-Ray Diffraction
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy
EDS	Energy Dispersive Spectroscopy
DPPH	2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl hydrate

- MTT 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazole-2yl)-2,5-Diphenyltetrazolium Bromide
- UV Ultraviolet
- m²/g Square meter per gram
- CNT Carbon Nanotubes
- FeNPs Iron Nanoparticles
- Al₂O₃ Aluminum Oxide
- CeO₂ Cerium Oxide
- Fe₂O₃ Iron Oxide
- Fe₃O₄ Magnetite
- SiO₂ Silicon Oxide
- MNPs Metal Nanoparticles
- MTs Metallothioneines
- VNPs Virus mediated nanoparticles
- POM Polarized Optical Microscopy
- TEM Transmission Electron Microscopy
- XPS X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy
- DLS Dynamic Light Scattering
- HRTEM High Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy
- CPP Cell Penetrating Peptides
- siRNA small interfering RNA
- CTAB Cetyltrimethylammonium bromide
- MDR Multi Drug Resistant
- MRS de Man, Rogosa and Sharpe Media

mg	Milligram
mM	Millimolar
mm	Millilitre
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
Huh-7	Human Hepatoma Cell Line 7
keV	Kilo Electron Volt
KBr	Potassium Bromide
Kg	Kilogram
Hr	Hour
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
NMR	Nuclear magnetic Resonance
w/v	Weight/Volume
v/v	Volume/Volume
rpm	Revolutions per minute
mA	milliampere
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxide
DI	De-ionized water

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure No.	Title	Page No.
4.1	Pure culture of Molecularly identified Lactobacillus rhamnosus on MRS plate.	41
4.2	Comparison of color change between a) Gold Salt Solution [after 24hrs] b) Reaction Mixture [after 48hrs]	42
4.3	UV/Vis spectra of bacterial biomass indicating absence of peak	43
4.4	UV/Vis spectra of Reaction Mixture indicating peak at 540nm	44
4.5	Comparison of absorbance value of reaction Mixture set up at different temperatures	45
4.6	Comparison of absorbance value of reaction Mixtures set up at different reaction times	46
4.7	X-Ray diffraction spectrum of AuNPs synthesized from Lactobacillus rhamnosus	47
4.8	Infrared Spectrum of bacterial biomass	48
4.9	Infrared Spectrum of Reaction Mixture containing biogenic AuNPs	49
4.10	SEM Image of AuNPs at 50µm resolution	50
4.11	SEM Image of AuNPs at 5µm resolution	50
4.12	SEM Image of AuNPs at 2µm resolution	51
4.13	SEM Image of AuNPs at 1µm resolution	51

4.14	SEM Image of AuNPs at 500nm resolution	52
4.15	SEM Image of AuNPs at 500nm with particle identification	52
4.16	SEM Image of AuNPs at 500nm	53
4.17	SEM Image of AuNPs at 500nm with particle identification	53
4.18	EDS graph of AuNPs a) SEM image region from which EDS was taken. b) EDS Analysis Graph. c) Elemental composition by EDS	54
4.19	Zone of inhibition by biogenic AuNPs and positive control Cefoxitine	56
4.20	Comparison of zone of inhibition of bacterial isolates after application of AuNPs of different concentrations. P = 0.001	56
4.21	Comparison of absorbance values of different concentrations of Asocorbic acid (Positive Control) and AuNPs (Test sample) through DPPH assay P = 0.001	57
4.22	Free radical scavenging ability of AuNPs compared with Ascorbic acid at different concentrations by DPPH assay $P = 0.0001$	58

LIST OF TABLES

Table No.	Title	Page No.
3.1	Chemical composition and Percentage representation of Man, Rogosa and Sharpe Media	33
3.2	Chemical composition and Percentage representation of Nutrient Media	34

ABSTRACT

Nanotechnology is an interdisciplinary science that deals with development and manipulation of functional systems at atomic and molecular level. Nanoparticles are objects that range in size from 1 - 100nm and may differ from their bulk material in chemical and physical properties. Among a variety of nanomaterials, metallic nanoparticle such as gold nanoparticles have gained significant importance in past due to their administration in the field of material and manufacturing industry, cosmetics, therapeutic and pharmaceutical industries. Nanoparticles can be synthesized using physic-chemical and biological approaches. Physico-chemical methods provide nanoparticles of definite size but synthesis process is toxic and expensive. Biological methods are preferred because they provide ease of handling, synthesis and no toxic material by products formation. In this study, Lactobacillus rhamnosus is used for synthesis of gold nanoparticles. Bacteria provide bioactive oxidoreductase enzymes that act as catalyst in bio-reduction reaction and reduces gold ions in solution to gold nanoparticles. Synthesis of these nanoparticles is evaluated by change in color of reaction mixture. These nanoparticles were further verified by UV/Vis spectrophotometer that shows peak for AuNPs at 540nm. Comparison of Ultraviolet/Visible spectra of bacterial biomass and AuNPs showed characteristic change in absorbance. Their elemental composition, evaluated by Element Disspersive Spectroscopy analysis, indicated presence of 4% gold element in the sample mixture. Crystallinity of nanoparticles were analyzed by X-Ray Diffractogram, whereas Fourier Transformed Infrared spectrum indicated the presence of amine groups depicting that particles are stable in nature. Morphology and diameter were measured by microscopic analysis such as Scanning Electron Microscopy. Newly synthesized AuNPs were spherical with varying size of 50-70nm. Bactericidal activity of nanoparticles was performed against strains of Salmonella enterica. Escherichia coli. Pseudomonas nitroreducens Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and Bacillus subtilis. Antibacterial results showed that AuNPs can be used as an alternative to antibiotic. DPPH inhibition assay revealed scavenging ability of biogenic AuNPs compared with ascorbic acids at different concentrations. 500µg/ml of biogenic AuNPs show 70% free radical scavenging ability.

Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION

Nanotechnology refers to the field of science that deals with the preparation of nanomaterials. Nanomaterials are smaller than one micrometer at atleast one dimension. These materials are studied at nanoscale to evaluate their atomic and molecular properties (Mansoori, 2005). Nanotechnology is a multidisciplinary field which has applications in biophysics, electronics, bioengineering, and molecular biology. It also provides devices, tools and materials for pharmaceutics, medicine, and other specialized fields. Development of nanotechnology to several levels such as devices, materials and systems is expected in the near future. At present, the most advanced level is nanomaterials, both in commercial and scientific applications (Murray, Kagan, & Bawendi, 2000). Types of nanometerials commercially available include ceramics, quantum dots and semi-conductors (Dubchak, Ogar, Mietelski, & Turnau, 2010).

Nanoparticles (NPs) are building blocks that laid the foundation of nanotechnology. They range in size from 1-100nm and are composed of metal, metal oxides or organic matter (Hasan, 2015). These particles, in amorphous and crystalline morphology, were the center of attention due to their contribution in development of nano-based products (Buzea, Pacheco, & Robbie, 2007; Horton & Khan, 2006; Kawasaki & Player, 2005). These particles possess the ability of exhibiting increased mechanical strength, large surface area to volume ratio, different size and shapes, because of which they have enormous applications in fields of diagnostic probes, catalysis and disease diagnosis i.e. cancer, detection of toxic metals in environment and drug discovery (Balbus et al., 2007). NPs have different dimensions such as zero dimensional like quantum dots in which height, length and width are fixed at one point, one dimensional that possess only one parameter, two dimensional that have length and width or three dimensional that has all parameter (E. J. Cho et al., 2013). Their shapes may vary from spherical to rod, tubular, cylindrical or spiral (Machado, Pacheco, Nouws, Albergaria, & Delerue-Matos, 2015). Previously, NPs were studied due to their physico-chemical properties based on their sizes. Now these

Introduction

particles have entered an era where they are studied for their magnetic and optical properties (Paull, Wolfe, Hébert, & Sinkula, 2003).

Metallic nanoparticles are the NPs that are synthesized through metals either by constructive or destructive approach. Almost all the metals can be used for the preparation of their NPs (Salavati-Niasari, Davar, & Mir, 2008). Commonly used metals include Silver (Ag), Carbon (C), Gold (Au), Lead (Pb), Copper (Cu), Iron (Fe) and so on. These particles exhibit unique shapes and optical properties. Extinction spectra of these particles are dominated by surface plasmon resonance (SPR) (Dulkeith et al., 2004). These resonances responds to the excitation of electrons present in conduction bands, excited by the electromagnetic field. Free electrons of metallic nanoparticles exhibit coherent oscillations corresponding to positive metallic lattice, in the presence of an oscillating electromagnetic field (Dreaden, Alkilany, Huang, Murphy, & El-Sayed, 2012).

Among all the metal elements found in earth crust, gold (Au) is one of the rarest metal and is mostly found in the form of aqueous solution as Au (0), Au (I), Au (III). Au ions can be converted into gold nanoparticles. Gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) are mostly preferred among metallic nanoparticles in the field of biotechnology and biomedicine because of following features, a). Increased physical and chemical stability, including their biocompatibility with human cells, b) Optoelectronic properties, c) Ease of surface functionalization with other biomolecules (Amendola & Meneghetti, 2009; Mout, Moyano, Rana, & Rotello, 2012), d) Strong binding affinity to disulfides, amines and thiols (Zhou, Wang, Zhu, & Chen, 1999) and e) ease of synthetic manipulation (Yuanchao Zhang et al., 2014). Au is used internally by humans due to its chemical inertness. One of the major characteristic of AuNPs lies in its multi-functionalization. They are highly used in the field of biomedical such as cellular imaging (Austin, Kang, & El-Sayed, 2015; Murphy et al., 2008), sensing, chemical analysis and catalysis (Anker et al., 2010; Jahn et al., 2016), nonlinear optical processes (Hentschel, Metzger, Knabe, Buse, & Giessen, 2016), delivery of drugs and other conjugates (Ghosh, Han, De, Kim, & Rotello, 2008). These particles have the tendency of integration to different kinds of molecules such as ligands, therapeutic agents, imaging labels and other molecules to enhance drug delivery and cellular uptake. Using these functionalities, AuNPs can convert a poorly active drug into an active drug. Thus, they

Introduction

highly contribute in cancer diagnosis, cancer and HIV therapy (Bowman et al., 2008). It was reported that doxorubicin, an anticancer drug, can be conjugated with AuNPs. After conjugation, it is fairly activated and exhibit increased anti-cancerous activity (Aryal, Grailer, Pilla, Steeber, & Gong, 2009).

With increasing development in nanotechnology, several strategies are devised for synthesizing NPs. Two major approaches that are followed include Top-down and bottomup approaches. Following Top-down approach, particles are formed by reducing the size, by pyrolysis or attrition, from bulk material into a nanoscale form (Thakkar, Mhatre, & Parikh, 2010). These techniques are not useful as they cannot maintain uniform size distribution and disturbs NPs surface quality that is used for catalytic activity. These techniques require high technology instrumentation facilities and thus, are very expensive. While following bottom-up approach NPs are synthesized from nanoscale level. Various chemical and physical methods are used for synthesizing NPs. Brust-Schiffrin and Turkevish methods are commonly used but these are very costly, time consuming, use of toxic substrates and toxic waste production limit the applications of NPs (Y.-M. Park et al., 2011; Salam et al., 2012). Physical techniques are not preferred due to the consumption of large amount of energy (Choi, Chiu, & Luo, 2010; X. Liu, Wu, Wunsch, Barsotti Jr, & Stellacci, 2006). Therefore, green methods are indispensable for NP synthesis, as compared to physico-chemical methods, that provide safer, economic and provide ease of scaling up (Rajathi, Parthiban, Kumar, & Anantharaman, 2012). Using biological systems i.e. bacteria, plants, fungi, actinomycetes and algae for synthesizing nanostructures of biocompatible metals is known as biomimetic.

Plant biomass provides an excellent alternative for biological NPs production as compared to chemical and physical method. Plant metabolites are employed as extracts of seeds, fruits, leaves etc. These extracts contain certain metabolites such as phytochemicals that contributes towards reduction and stability of NPs. Much research has been conducted by using plants because of their abundance (Prathna, Chandrasekaran, Raichur, & Mukherjee, 2011). Several studies reported that NPs synthesized from plants are unstable and agglomerate due to the increased concentration of phytochemicals in the aqueous extracts (Song & Kim, 2009).

Microorganisms are used as 'Nano-factories' for developing eco-friendly, safe and cost effective methods of NPs synthesis (X. Li, Xu, Chen, & Chen, 2011). Microbes accepts electrons from their environment and use their enzymes, produced by cellular metabolism, to synthesize metallic NPs and convert metals ions into elemental metal atoms. NPs can be synthesized either outside or inside bacterial cell according to the location of formation. NPs synthesized extracellularly involves the entrapment of ions on bacterial surface followed by their reduction using enzymes. Whereas following intracellular synthesis, ions are transported inside the cell where they are reduced. *Escherichia coli* can precipitate Au (III) from AuCl⁴⁻ solution and transform them into AuNPs (Du, Jiang, Liu, & Wang, 2007; Srivastava, Yamada, Ogino, & Kondo, 2013). Au (III) stress renders the Au ions toxic due to reactive oxygen species (ROS) production (Rea, Zammit, & Reith, 2016; M. Tiwari et al., 2016). Various bacterial strains of *Pseudomonas*, *Bacillus* and *lactobacilli* are used for the production of metallic NPs. Recently, *Bacillus methylotrophicus* and *Bhargavaea* indica have been used for the production of silver NPs and AuNPs (Singh, Kim, Wang, Mathiyalagan, & Yang, 2016; C. Wang et al., 2016). In this study, a probiotic lactobacilli is used for the preparation of non-toxic AuNPs.

Lactobacillus belongs to family *Lactobacillaceae*. This family is comprised of non-spore forming, non-motile and gram-positive bacteria (Liang et al., 2011). Various species of this genus are used for the production of metallic NPs either intracellularly or extracellularly (Markus et al., 2016). Various species of this genus are involved in the synthesis of AuNPs however studies on their biological applications and characterization have not been reported (Thiruneelakandan et al., 2013) . *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* is a facultative anaerobe appearing in form of chains. Some strains of *L. rhamnosus* are used as probiotics and are helpful in the treatment of diseases. This study is designed to use *L. rhamnosus* for the preparation of AuNPs.

Biomass of bacteria *L. rhamnosus* obtained after incubation in media is used to react with Au solution for biosynthesis of AuNPs. Further optimization methods yield the optimum physical parameters for maximum yield of AuNPs. Newly synthesized particles are subjected to standard characterization techniques to evaluate different properties. These characterization techniques include Scanning electron microscopy (SEM), Ultraviolet/visible (UV/Vis) spectrophotometry, X-Ray Diffraction (XRD), Fourier transformed infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy and Energy dispersive spectroscopy (EDS).

After complete characterization, antioxidant activity of newly biosynthesized AuNPs is evaluated by DPPH assay. Furthermore, anti-bacterial activity of these AuNPs was evaluated by disc diffusion assay against different bacterial species including two strains of *Escherichia coli*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Pseudomonas nitroreducens*, *Bacillus subtilis* and *Salmonella enterica*.

1.1. Hypothesis of the Study

Biosynthesis of AuNPs uses reductase enzymes for the reducing gold solution. Presence of these enzymes in biomass is evaluated if bacteria is able to synthesize AuNPs. These biogenic AuNPs have been reported to be stable in nature. Metallic gold is a renowned antimicrobial agent and AuNPs are also known to exhibit inhibitory effects on some bacterial species. So, these AuNPs should have some bactericidal activity associated with them.

1.2. Objectives of the study

Specific objectives of this research include:

- Biosynthesis of AuNPs from Lactobacillus rhamnosus
- Optimization of Physico-chemical parameters for biosynthesis reaction.
- Characterization of newly synthesized AuNPs by SEM, UV/Vis, FTIR, EDS and XRD
- Optimization of antioxidant ability of AuNPs by 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl hydrate (DPPH) assay.
- Determination of bactericidal potential of AuNPs against 6 different strains of bacteria.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

2.1. Nanotechnology and Nanoparticles

Nanotechnology is an experimental and theoretical field for applied sciences and technology. It encircles the production of functional systems on an atomic and molecular level. It also exploits the structural contents of matter sized 1-100nm, also known as NPs. Importance of nanotechnology dates back to 2000, when United States laid the foundation of an institution called, National Nanotechnology Initiative (NNI), responsible for progress and research in Nanotechnology (Petcu, Zaharie, Gorgan, Pop, & Tudor, 2007). The word 'Nano' takes its origin for from Greek word 'Nanos' which means extremely small (Russell, 2013). It was mentioned by Richard P. Feynman, a Nobel Laureate, in his prominent lecture known as, 'There's Plenty of Room at the Bottom' (Feynman, 2012). Nanotechnology is often termed as general technology because it impacts almost every industry. It is an evolutionary development in the fields of Science and Engineering and is progressing rapidly (Ramsden, 1990). Modern science, using the unique properties of nature at nano scale, presents a new medium for integration, innovation and discovery of technology (Roco, 2007). It is driven to produce material with unique properties that have application in all domains of life including biological, chemical and physical sciences.

A large number of nanotechnology products are available but still research is being conducted in various research laboratories to develop nano branches that could affect the global market for agriculture, minerals and non-fuel commodities. It provides several probable solutions to problems using nano techniques. Products of everyday use contain nanoscale materials. Nanoscale zinc oxide and titanium oxide are present in sunscreens that reflects ultraviolet (UV) to avoid sunburns. Nanomaterials have been used to manufacture batteries to provide more power, efficacy and dissipate less heat. Nanotechnology also finds its application in the manufacturing of sports goods, vehicles and cosmetics. The unique properties of NPs are governed by their structural features such as size, composition and shape. They are usually composed of 3 layers: a) a surface layer equipped with different molecules, surfactants and metal ions, b) a shell layer that is different from core of nanoparticle in its chemical composition and c) central portion of NPs is known as core and refers to nanoparticle itself (Shin, Cho, Kannan, Lee, & Kim, 2016).

2.2. Properties of Nanoparticles

2.2.1 Surface and size functionality

The unique characteristic of interest in NPs is their larger surface area to volume ratio. NPs are comprised of 10^6 atoms or even lesser. Most of these atoms are exterior atoms that form fewer bonds with lattice and provide multiple active sites (Wilcoxon & Abrams, 2006). Their interaction with environment can alter the reactivity and solubility of NPs. The surface of NPs is provided in square meter per gram (m^2/g) . A good catalyst should have 100-400 m²/g (Catherine & Olivier, 2017) whereas some NPs provide as high as 6000 m²/g surface area (Widegren & Finke, 2003). Its surface functionality allow their interactions with lipid bilayer, that can be specific or non-specific (Goodman, McCusker, Yilmaz, & Rotello, 2004). Electrostatic interactions are employed for the translocation of cationic NPs to the anionic surface of cell exterior. Research has shown that, while targeting lipophilic domains hydrophobicity can be an important factor. (Verma & Stellacci, 2010). In one of the previous study, it was showed that the structure and composition of capping ligand molecule is an important factor as it helps in the internalization of the particles. Serum proteins have been reported to help in the movement of NPs (Kam, Liu, & Dai, 2006). Their success also depend on targeting specific cells by internalization (Sperling, Gil, Zhang, Zanella, & Parak, 2008). It was recently reported that size and shape of NPs play an important role in their cellular movements. In a research, it was discovered that 50nm particles provide best internalization results as compared to particles of other sizes. Use of neutrally charged AuNPs enhanced their drug delivering efficiency (Agasti et al., 2009; C. K. Kim et al., 2009).

2.2.2 Geometrical Structure

NPs with same composition can provide different shapes such as spherical, cubic, rod and triangular shaped NPs. Their different shapes provide different banding patterns. Spherical shaped NPs exhibit single peak whereas ally shaped shows multiple peaks on their absorbance profile (Mie, 1908). Therefore, spherical NPs are mostly used because they have an increase uptake than rod shaped particles (Chithrani, Ghazani, & Chan, 2006). Differently shaped NPs have different charge polarization edges and corner atoms and provide different reactivities to the particles. These are used in development of different conductors and optical technologies (Kelly, Coronado, Zhao, & Schatz, 2003; Panda & Deepa, 2011).

2.2.3. Plasmon Resonance:

The term plasmon is defined as the oscillations exhibited by excited free electrons in metal (Maier, 2007). These negatively charged electrons upon irradiation are displaced from equilibrium position and cloud coherently around positively charged lattice of metal ions (Kreibig & Vollmer, 1995; Luk'yanchuk et al., 2010). Irradiation of a spherical NP by light, generates an electric field around it, thus giving it a net dipole. This phenomenon can make NPs amenable to small chemical changes that can be observed using a detector and be used in biosensing industry.

2.3. Classification of Nanoparticles

NPs are categorized into various classes due to their chemical composition, properties, size and morphology. Some of these classes include:

2.3.1 Organic Nanoparticle

Organic nanoparticles or polymers consists of dendrimers, liposomes and ferritin. These are non-toxic and biodegradable, some of these NPs contain a hollow core and are termed as Nanocapsules. These nanocapsules are sensitive to electromagnetic and thermal radiations (D. K. Tiwari, Behari, & Sen, 2008). These NPs have vast applications in biomedical field such as drug delivery carriers, as they provide drug carrying capacity, delivery systems and stability of either entrapped or adsorbed drugs. They are efficient and can be used for targeted drug delivery.

2.3.2. Carbon Based Nanoparticles

NPs composed solely of carbon are known as carbon based NPs. These NPs include carbon nanofibers, fullerenes, carbon nanotubes (CNTs), carbon black and graphene. Fullerenes resemble hollow cage, composed of 28 to 1500 carbon atoms arranged in pentagonal and hexagonal carbon units, forming a spherical shape. Fullerenes are used commercially because of their increased strength, structure, electron affinity, versatility and electrical conductivity (Astefanei, Núñez, & Galceran, 2015). CNTs are tubular, elongated structures, about 1-2nm in diameter (Sharma, Kumar Mehra, Jain, & Jain, 2016). In morphology, they resemble self-rolling graphite sheets. These are synthesized by depositing carbon atoms on metallic NPs. Carbon atoms used are vaporized either by laser or electric arc. CNTs as nanocomposites have several commercial applications such as gas adsorption for environmental remediation (Ngoy, Wagner, Riboldi, & Bolland, 2014), fillers (I. Khan, Saeed, & Khan, 2017) and as support for organic and inorganic catalyst (Mabena, Ray, Mhlanga, & Coville, 2011).

2.3.3. Inorganic Nanoparticles

Inorganic NPs constitutes NPs that are not composed of carbon. These mostly include metal oxide based and metallic NPs.

2.3.3.1 Metal oxide Nanoparticles

Metal oxide based NPs alter the properties of metal based NPs. For example, in the availability of oxygen, iron nanoparticles (FeNPs) instantly oxidize to Fe₂O₃ that enhances its reactivity as compared to FeNPs. These are commonly synthesized due to their enhanced efficiency and reactivity (Tai, Tai, Chang, & Liu, 2007). Commonly used metal oxide based NPs include Cerium oxide (CeO₂), Aluminium oxide (Al₂O₃), Magnetite (Fe₃O₄), Iron oxide (Fe₂O₃) and silicon dioxide (SiO₂). These NPs possess unique properties as compared to their metallic nanoparticles.

2.3.3.2 Metallic Nanoparticles

Metal NPs (MNPs) hold special attention because of their optic, electric, magnetic and catalytic properties that are different from their bulk materials (Atkins & Overton, 2010; Yan Zhang, Cui, Shi, & Deng, 2011). MNPs first synthesis is dated back to 1400-1300

BCE in Egypt that involved the production of opaque red glass with colloidal copper. In 4th century, Lycurgus cup, that changes its color from deep red to green based on source of incoming light, was developed in Rome. These optical properties were exhibited because of Ag (silver) and Au (gold) NPs embedded in glass (Barber & Freestone, 1990). The alchemist Al Razi described the 'Ruby Red Glass' as the molten glass that attracted Ag and Au thereby increasing its weight 1000 times. The production of NPs was emerged in 19th century for the experimental work of Michael Faraday. In 1908, optical properties of colloidal MNPs were studied by and he explained that the particles were smaller in size as compared to wavelength of light. In 1959, a physicist Richard Feynman predicted the criticality of scaling down to nano-level for technological advances (Richard, 1959). Norio Taniguchi first introduced the term 'Nanotechnology' in 1974 (Taniguchi, ARAKAWA, & KOBAYASHI, 1974). NPs are commercially used in various industries including catalysis, telecommunication, optics, food, green energy, space technology, medicine and many other fields.

2.4. Gold Nanoparticles

Among metals, Au is one of the first to have been discovered. Gold nanoparticle (AuNPs) are of particular interest due to their resistance to oxidation, stability and biocompatibility (Corti & Holliday, 2004; Corti, Holliday, & Thompson, 2002). Their easy functionalization preparation of nano-biological assemblies with provide platform for antibodies (Capomaccio et al., 2015), proteins (Bhattacharya & Mukherjee, 2008) and oligonucleotides (T. Zhang et al., 2011). History of AuNPs dates back to 4th century where they received huge importance because of their bright red color (Colomban, 2009). They can be found in various ornaments such as the red color of Lycurgus cup (Freestone, Meeks, Sax, & Higgitt, 2007; Wagner et al., 2000), lustre plates in 15th -16th century (Colomban, 2009) and the purple of Cassius colored with red ruby glasses in middle Ages (Hunt, 1976; Ruivo et al., 2008). Initially, data on the presence of colloidal Au can be dated back to the treaties of Arabians and Chinese as early as 5-6 century BC. At that time, it was used as medicinal solution among other uses. During Middle Age in Egypt, colloidal Au was used and studied in laboratories related to Alchemistry. Paracelsus obtained colloidal Au by reducing gold chloride using vegetable extracts of oils and alcohol. In this study, he

used Au to cure mental diseases such as syphilis. Au also found its application is treatment of other diseases such as leprosy, epilepsy and diarrhea.

Doctor of medicine Francisco Antonii published first book on colloidal au in 1618, describing the phenomenon to obtain it and its medical uses (Dykman & Khlebtsov, 2017). In 1857, Faraday reported the production AuNPs by reducing tetrachloroaurate in carbon disulfide environment by phosphorus (Turkevich, 1951). This report increased attention for synthesis of AuNPs of controlled shapes and sizes. Despite its early applications, the use of AuNPs in biological studies was started in late 20th century. In 1951, Turkevich method of AuNPs preparation using citrate (stabilizing agent) was presented. In this method, tetrachloroaurate and trisodium citrate dehydrate are used for the preparation of 15nm particles (Blatchford, Campbell, & Creighton, 1982). Further improvement was done by Frens to make a broad range of AuNPs from 15-150nm (S. Park, Sinha, & Hamad-Schifferli, 2010). Brust and Schriffin, in 1994, achieved a breakthrough in creating alkanethiole stabilized organic soluble AuNPs. This biphasic reduction protocol employed a reducing agent i.e. sodium borohydride and tetraoctylammoniumbromide as phase transfer reagent (Hostetler et al., 1998; Lévy et al., 2004). British researchers Faulk and Taylor presented the method for conjugation of colloidal Au to antibodies for the visualization of surface markers on salmonellae under electron microscope (Roth, 1996). Many researches have been conducted to understand the functionalization of nanoparticleconjugates in fields of microbiology, cytology, immunology and morphology.

In modern science, the range of AuNPs application is extremely wide. Although in bulk, Au act as a poor catalyst but AuNPs exhibit strong catalytic activity such as alcohol oxidation (Ide & Davis, 2013), 4-nitrophenol hydrogenation (W. Liu, Yang, & Xie, 2007), low temperature oxidation of carbon monoxide (Valden, Lai, & Goodman, 1998) and in selective epoxidation reactions (Lee et al., 2009; Sinha, Seelan, Tsubota, & Haruta, 2004). Due to the Lewis acid nature of gold, it act as an excellent catalyst for alkyne activation reactions (Takale, Bao, & Yamamoto, 2014). It is used in genomics, immunoanalysis, photothermolysis and detection of microorganisms and cancer cells; used as drug delivery vehicle, monitoring and bio imaging of targeted cells and tissues.

AuNPs are synthesized through different physico-chemical and biological methods. Physical method of AuNPs synthesis include microwave irradiation, ultraviolet radiation, laser ablation, sonochemical method, γ irradiation and photochemical process. γ radiation produces NPs of high purity with a size range of 5-40nm. Microwave radiation uses photochemical reduction or heating for synthesis (Y. Wang et al., 2013). In thermolytic and UV irradiation methods, high temperature and UV radiations act as reducing agents. NPs of various sizes can be achieved by optimizing certain parameters (Singh, Kim, et al., 2016; L. Wang et al., 2010). Photochemical methods are used to produce nanorods, that possess complex self-assembly behavior and physical properties (L. Wang et al., 2010).

Following chemical approach, reactions are conducted in aqueous medium and a reducing environment. Sodium borohydride and citrate are commonly used as reducing agents. Turkevish method is a conventional method for chemical synthesis of AuNPs that produce particles of controlled size, more stable and easy to synthesize (B. Wang et al., 2014). In 1951, Turkevish modified Hauser and Lynn' preparation. In this procedure, sodium citrate was used as a reducing agent. It produced spherical AuNPs with narrow size range. In 1994, Brust-Schiffrin method used interactions among thio-gold to protect particles with thiol ligands (Yeo et al., 2017). In this method, sodium borohydride reduced AuCla⁻ in the presence of alkanethiols, it produced NPs of size ranging from 1-3nm (Wadhwani, Shedbalkar, Singh, Karve, & Chopade, 2014). Biological methods use living systems such as fungi, bacteria, actinomycetes, plants and algae for synthesizing non-toxic and stable AuNPs. Main objective of biosynthesis is to avoid the use of expensive, toxic solvents (Venkatesan et al., 2013).

2.5. Synthesis methods for Nanoparticles

2.5.1. Synthesis by Microbes:

Microorganisms are widely used for the synthesis of NPs due to many factors that include easy handling, safety maintenance, growth on low cost medium and presence of enzymes to reduce metal ions into NPs (K. S. Kumar et al., 2014). Synthesis of particles within microbe can be intracellular or extracellular. Intracellular synthesis requires the transport of positively charged metal ions into the cell wall that is negatively charged. These toxic

metallic ions are converted to non-toxic NPs by the action of enzymes, produced as a result of metabolic processes, within the cell wall. Extracellular mechanism involve enzyme such nitrate reductase, produced by many prokaryotes, for the conversion of metal ions into NPs. For detoxification, microbes use metal binding or vacuole compartmentalization. Under metal-stress situations, microbes perform mechanisms to decrease heavy metal concentration. These mechanisms include the efflux of toxic metal ions through cell membrane, conversion to non-toxic ions and accumulation of ions within the microbe. Heavy metals such as Au enter cells through carrier mediated transport, endocytosis or ion pumps (K. S. Kumar et al., 2014). Molecules such as glutathione (Xu et al., 2014) and Metallothioneines (MTs) are involved in metal detoxification (Gomathy & Sabarinathan, 2010).

2.5.1.1. Synthesis by Viruses

Viruses are being used for the production of NPs as they provide the advantage of sizeconstricted reaction cage (Slocik, Naik, Stone, & Wright, 2005) and presents functional groups on their capsid surface (Mukherjee et al., 2002). These NPs are generally termed as Virus-mediated nanoparticle (VNP). They find application in field of medicine and material science. VNPs are very small, robust, monodispersed, stable and can be easily prepared in large scale. VNPs provide ease of alteration either by modifying genetic makeup of virus or by chemical bio conjugation methods. Viral material can be used for reduction of environmental contaminants. Production of reduced FeNPs from M13 virus possess ability to convert soluble uranium (U^{6+}) to insoluble form (U^{4+}).

2.5.1.2. Synthesis by Fungi

Few fungal species have been studied for NPs production. Generally, fungal microbiology is much less investigated because of difficulty in characterization, as fungal structure complicates mechanistic process used for characterization of NPs within fungi. Main advantage of using fungi is that they secrete large amount of extracellular proteins with several functions, have ability of bioaccumulation and provide high metal tolerance. NPs synthesis from fungi provide ease of scaling-up, cost-effective, ease of downstream processing and handling biomass. Different size and shapes of NPs can be achieved by active biomolecules from fungi. These biomolecules absorb Au ions and convert them into AuNPs intracellularly (Mukherjee et al., 2002). These active molecules can either be proteins like glyceraldehyde-3phosphate dehydrogenase, ATPase, 3-glucan binding protein or reducing sugars. Extensive studies on *Verticillium spp*. proposed that not only reduced sugars of cell are responsible for Au ions reduction but they can be reduced by adsorption on cell wall enzymes through electrostatic interactions with lysine groups (Durán et al., 2011). AuNPs synthesized from Penicillin oxalicum reveals the average size of particle to be 4-6nm in diameter.

2.6. Characterization Techniques

Successful synthesis of NPs also require the characterization of different properties of these particles. These techniques are performed to understand the morphology, reactivity and nature of NPs.

2.6.1. Visual color change and UV/Vis Analysis

Characterization of NPs starts by observing change in color of solution. It works on SPR principle. Change in color occur due to an increase in the size of NPs. This change is measured by UV/Vis spectroscopy (X. Zhang et al., 2016). NPs exhibit these optical properties due to the electron oscillations present on their surface. Suspension of bacterial biomass in water produces milky white solution which is changed to pale yellow color of HAuCl4 after the addition of gold salt. After incubation, visual change occur from yellow to red color indicate the synthesis of NPs. For AuNPs, increase in size changes color from deep red to purple (Seo, Kim, Hyun, Kim, & Park, 2015).

2.6.2. Morphological Characterization

Morphological features of NPs are of prime importance since it greatly influences their properties. Different techniques are used for morphological studies, but most important include microscopic techniques that include SEM, TEM (Transmission Electron Microscopy) and polarized optical microscopy (POM). SEM is based on the principle of electron scanning. It is not only used for morphological studies but also explains the dispersion of nanomaterial in matrix. Similarly TEM technique is also based on the principle of electron transmittance. It provides information about NPs from low to high magnification. AuNPs of different morphologies, prepared from different methods, are

studied through this technique (Khlebtsov & Dykman, 2011). TEM also provide information about the presence of two or more layered nanomaterial that include quadrupolar hollow spherical structure of Co₃O₄ NPs.

2.6.3. Structural Characterization

Structural characterization provide useful details about sample composition, bonding of nanomaterial and characteristics of the bulk metal. These structural properties are analyzed through XRD, EDS, Raman and Zieta sieze analyzer techniques. XRD is a useful technique to study the structure of NPs. It tells about the phase and crystallinity of the subject material. Rough idea of size can also be deduced from XRD results using Debye Scherer equation (I. Khan, Ali, Mansha, & Qurashi, 2017). XRD works well for both single and multi-phase NPs identification (Emery, Saal, Kirklin, Hegde, & Wolverton, 2016). NPs with smaller size appear difficult for correct measurements of structure and parameters. EDS technique provides information about the elemental composition of nanomaterial. It provides elements along with their abundance. Whereas X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS) is considered as a very sensitive technique for determining elemental abundance and the presence of bonding among elements in nanomaterial. XPS can be used to provide in depth information about composition and its variation in nanomaterial. It relies on simple spectroscopic principle and XPS spectrum generally consists of Y-axis representing number of electrons and X-axis representing the bonding energy of electrons. Each element possess a specific binding energy and thus show unique peak on XPS spectrum. Characterization of NPs vibration is studied by FTIR and Raman spectroscopies. These techniques provide ease of functionalization and are developed as compared to other elemental analytical techniques. Fingerprint region is the most important region for NPs as it provide signature information regarding materials. FTIR technique is used to identify unique biomolecules that can be used for capping and impart stabilization to AuNPs (Connor, Mwamuka, Gole, Murphy, & Wyatt, 2005). Size of a nanoparticle can be measured using various techniques such SEM, XRD, TEM, AFM and dynamic light scattering (DLS). All these technique give accurate measurement about the particle size, but the size of extremely small NPs can be determined by Zeta potential.

2.7. Applications in Biotechnology

AuNPs have provided new direction and ideas to make better and more effective diagnostic and therapeutic tools for application in medical biotechnology industry. Some of these applications include:

2.7.1. Bioimaging

AuNPs have been used for identifying biological and chemical entities. Their high electron density enables TEM to detect bio-specific interactions. First 3 volumes of colloidal Au application included TEM using AuNPs (Hayat, 2012). Modern application of electron microscopy include the use of systems of digital recording and image processing and high resolution instruments such as HRTEM (high resolution transmission electron microscopy). Major use of electron microscopy in biological studies include the identification of surface markers on causative agents of infectious diseases. Fluorescence microscopy (Phillips, Miranda, You, Rotello, & Bunz, 2008), scanning probe microscopy (Drygin et al., 2009) and SEM (Naja, Hrapovic, Male, Bouvrette, & Luong, 2008) are also used for identification. Visualization method using AuNPs particularly confocal microscopy has gained popularity in biological and medical research. This process use an optical system for the detection of micro-objects, which permits the scanning of objects and their height analysis. 3d images can also be obtained by superposition of scanograms (G. Wang, Stender, Sun, & Fang, 2010). Using AuNPs and AuNPs-antibody conjugate enable the detection of Au penetrating living cells at a mono particle level and total amount of Au (Klein, Petersen, Taylor, Rath, & Barcikowski, 2010). In resonance scattering dark field microscopy, AuNPs are used for detecting microbes and their metabolites (York et al., 2007), investigation of endocytosis (S.-H. Wang, Lee, Chiou, & Wei, 2010), imaging of tumor cells (Hu et al., 2009) and surface receptor detection (Bickford et al., 2008). Other applications of AuNPs in bio-imaging and detection constitutes a name 'biophotonic methods'. These methods include tomography (C. Li & Wang, 2009), photoacoustic microscopy (Zharov, Galanzha, Shashkov, Khlebtsov, & Tuchin, 2006), fluorescence correlation microscopy (Chen & Irudayaraj, 2009), X-ray and magneto-resonance tomography (D. Kim, Park, Lee, Jeong, & Jon, 2007) and optical coherence tomography (Zagaynova et al., 2008).

2.7.2. Therapeutics

AuNPs play an active role in therapeutics and perform various diagnostic assays. In 1977, successful administration of colloidal Au was reported in a patient suffering from RA (rheumatoid arthritis). In another successful example application of colloidal Au in rats suffering from collagen-induced arthritis was reported (Tsai et al., 2007). These successful results are attributed to anti-angiogenic activity followed by the binding of AuNPs with VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor) resulting in decreased inflammation and macrophage infiltration. Similarly, successful results were observed in rats with pristan-and collagen- induced arthritis upon the subcutaneous introduction of AuNPs (Brown, Whitehouse, Tiekink, & Bushell, 2008).

Colloidal Au was used to deliver TNF in mice by the researchers of Maryland University (Paciotti et al., 2004). The intravenously injected AuNPs conjugated TNF accumulated in tumor cells of the mice. Accumulation of NPs was verified by observing color change in tumor cells, and it also relates with the maximum tumor-specific TNF activity. As compared to native TNF, the conjugated molecule showed higher efficacy, lower toxicity and maximum antitumor activity was observed on low dose administration of drug. The anti-angiogenic properties of AuNPs, studied both in vivo and in vitro, revealed that these NPs interact with growth factors of cardiac epithelium and fibroblast and heparin-binding glycoprotein –vascular permeability factors. These factors mediate angiogenesis, therefore AuNPs inhibit these factors. Angiogenesis is one of the root problem of tumor growth, so AuNPs can be used for therapeutic purposes. It was also demonstrated that AuNPs can suppress multiple myeloma cells proliferation (Bhattacharya et al., 2007) and increase the apoptosis of lymphocytic leukemia cells .

2.7.3. Drug Delivery Vehicle

AuNPs can be synthesized with varying sizes ranging from 1nm to 150nm which can be easily modified, therefore, AuNPs possess great characteristic to be used as a drug carrier into different cell types (Duncan, Kim, & Rotello, 2010). The most popular targeted delivery objects include antitumor agents and antibiotics. AuNPs surface provide the stable platform enabling further modifications such as the addition of molecules or substances to form a specific monolayer that enhance their dispersion in organic media and prolong

stability and conjugation of targeted drugs or probes (Love, Estroff, Kriebel, Nuzzo, & Whitesides, 2005). These modified AuNPs gain effectiveness to target cancerous cells by either active or passive mechanistic system (Daniel & Astruc, 2004; Gao, Cui, Levenson, Chung, & Nie, 2004). Active targeting use drug or peptide conjugated AuNPs to locate and target tumor cells. Passive targeting use EPR (enhanced permeability and retention) effect to coat tumors with antitumor drugs, common property of nanoparticle conjugated drug delivery to tumors (Maeda, Wu, Sawa, Matsumura, & Hori, 2000). Lipid bilayer of cells act as a non-permeable barrier to molecules. It has been reported that several peptides facilitate the entry of molecules in the cell, these peptides are commonly known as cell penetrating peptides (CPP). CPP are either amphiphilic or cationic and are extensively used in drug delivery and gene therapy (Kichler, Mason, & Bechinger, 2006; Nativo, Prior, & Brust, 2008; Thorén, Persson, Lincoln, & Nordén, 2005). In a study, Tat protein sequence have been reported to facilitate entry of AuNPs in the cells (de la Fuente & Berry, 2005). These particles capped with CPP Tat enter the cytoplasm through the exterior of cells and acted as a functional drug deliver unit. These nanoconjugates can enter cells via different routes. They can either enter directly or through endocytosis and are released by endosomal release. This study suggests the use of a combination of peptides to allow the release of NPs into cellular matrix from endosomes (Nativo et al., 2008). In cancer cells, AuNPs showed great potential in delivering small interfering RNA (siRNA) and antisense oligonucleotides (Rosi et al., 2006), as they provide protection to the molecule from RNAses and ease of targeting (Mukherjee et al., 2007). Thus they played a significant role in down regulation of genes in cancer cells by posttranscriptional gene silencing and blocking gene function. AuNPs were used to cause cellular apoptosis by the release of radicals that affects cancer cells without affecting surrounding healthy cells (S. H. Cho, 2005).

2.8. Cytotoxicity of AuNPs

NPs acquire characteristics that are different from their larger counterparts so their effects and behavior cannot be evaluated from the properties of bulk material. Bulk Au has been studies extensively for its medicinal properties and AuNPs have been thought to possess similar properties. Literature shows that AuNPs lack the ability to cause acute and adverse
Literature Review

toxicity (Connor et al., 2005) and are thus considered as a promising candidate to be used in biomedical applications as biocompatible entities (Shukla et al., 2005). Recent studies shows that there could be more to AuNPs toxicity and its response corresponds to its size (Chen & Irudayaraj, 2009; Pan et al., 2007). Further studies revealed that smaller size AuNPs correlated to increased penetration potential within certain tissues, efficient cell internalization, widespread tissue distribution and increase in toxic effects (Johnston et al., 2010). In case of surface functionality, alteration of AuNPs surface affects its cytotoxicity, uptake by the cell and interaction with cellular constituents (Chithrani et al., 2006; Pan et al., 2009). Several studies showed that exertion of cytotoxicity by AuNPs occur due to the induction of oxidative stress. In a study, exposure of 1.4nm AuNPs to HeLa cells resulted in increased ROS production causing oxidative stress followed by lipid and protein degradation, disrupted mitochondrial function leading to cell death (Pan et al., 2009). Furthermore, mRNA expression analysis of whole genome verified that AuNPs treatment resulted in up-regulation of inflammation- and stress-related genes and a remarkable downregulation in cell cycle genes expression. Another research conducted human K562 cell line provided that the application of naked 18nm AuNPs did not provide any detectable toxicity even at a concentration of 250µM. Similar results were obtained after conjugation of AuNPs with biotin and cetyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB). Despite the quick internalization of NPs, no detrimental effects were observed (Connor et al., 2005). Citrate AuNPs of similar size were further investigated on HeLa cells with a concentration 2nM for 3 hours showed no detectable results or any change in protein folding or gene expression (J. A. Khan, Pillai, Das, Singh, & Maiti, 2007). AuNPs non-immunogenicity, biocompatibility and high membrane permeability without disrupting cellular functionality was described extensively. In this study, borohydride reduced AuNPs were used and showed no toxicity in macrophage cell line even at a high concentration of 100µM (Pernodet et al., 2006). Researcher described the accumulation of nano-aggregates in lysosomes. Above mentioned studies do not describe the toxicity of AuNPs but it is reported that these are very toxic both in vivo and in vitro. Toxicity of citrate AuNPs was deeply investigated and it was reported that 13nm citrate AuNPs can cross membrane and accumulate in specialized vacuoles where they disrupts actin filaments, reduces adhesion, motility and proliferation of primary cells. There effects were reported to be concentration

Literature Review

dependent for both short and long term incubation (Uboldi et al., 2009). In another study on alveolar type-II cell line, application of polydispersed AuNPs in micromolar concentration reduced cell viability upon incubation. Such toxicity occurred due to the presence of citrate salts on NPs surface.

2.9. Antimicrobial activity of AuNPs

Because of their unique physic-chemical properties, AuNPs can be used as antimicrobials (Allaker, Vargas-Reus, & Ren, 2012). Its bactericidal effects depend on the size and shape of nanoparticle. NPs can act as antimicrobial because they can interact with microbes (Dror-Ehre, Mamane, Belenkova, Markovich, & Adin, 2009; Hernández-Sierra et al., 2008). In bacteria, NPs attach to cell surface and cause structural changes, disrupting cellular functions such as reduction of respiratory chain enzymes, permeability, causing pits and eventually cell death (W.-R. Li et al., 2010; M. Rai, Yadav, & Gade, 2009). Their success as antibacterial agent also provide alternative to the use of antibiotics (Podsiadlo et al., 2008). Their antibacterial mechanism depends on the bacteria, permeability, surface modification and intrinsic properties (Bindhu & Umadevi, 2014). AuNPs with smaller size are known to penetrate bacterial cell and cause disruption. Triangular AuNPs show better results against Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria as compared to spherical AuNPs (Smitha & Gopchandran, 2013). Irrespective of size and surface functionality, sharpcornered triangular AuNPs can penetrate endosomal membranes and enter cytoplasm. NPs attach to bacterial membrane through electrostatic interactions and disrupts cellular integrity (P. K. Tiwari & Soo Lee, 2013). They can inhibit tRNA binding to ribosomal subunit thus, affecting translation, alter membrane potential and diminishes ATP level (Cui et al., 2012). AuNPs generate gaps in cell membrane causing leakage of cellular content and binds with DNA causing transcriptional inhibition (A. Rai, Prabhune, & Perry, 2010). AuNPs aggregates in biofilms of bacteria and cause cell wall damage that can be used to reduce side effects of drugs and treatment durations (Yousef & Danial, 2012). Oxidative stress caused by ROS can also lead to death of bacterial cells (Pissuwan, Niidome, & Cortie, 2011). In a research, antibacterial potential of AuNPs in different solution with different concentrations was proved effective against both gram positive and gram negative bacteria. AuNPs exhibited activity against multi drug resistant (MDR) pathogenic bacteria

Literature Review

Pseudomonas aeruginosa, E.coli (Gram-negative) and Bacillus subtilis (Gram-positive) AuNPs were used in 100µl, 200µl and 300µl concentrations. Maximum activity observed at 300µl concentration was 17mm, 19mm and 16mm against P.aeruginosa, E.coli and B.subtilis. E.coli. AuNPs synthesized by leaf extracts of Pergularia daemia showed highest bactericidal potential than any other AuNPs. Thus, it was proved that AuNPs from this plant were more effective against gram-negative bacteria as compared to gram-positive. AuNPs also possess antifungal activity against several fungi (Aljabali et al., 2018). All fungal species possess a cell wall and a cell membrane. Their wall is composed of β -glucan, β-glucan chitin and mannoprtoeins whereas, cell membrane is composed of phospholipids. AuNPs interacts with all these components before reaching ionic channels and integral proteins. AuNPs show antifungal activity by two methods either fungicidal or fungistatic. Antifungal effect is caused by altering cell wall's integrity, reduction in mechanic resistance leading to cell disruption (Letscher-Bru & Herbrecht, 2003) whereas, fungicidal effects is caused by the inhibiting β -glucan synthase and thus cell wall formation (Romero, Cantón, Pemán, & Gobernado, 2005). Antifungal activity of AuNPs was performed on different strains of Candida including C.glabrata, C.tropicalis and C.albicans. AuNPs showed excellent results against all three species.

Chapter 3

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The research was conducted in Integrative Laboratory of Atta-Ur Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB), National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST), Islamabad. This study is focused on biosynthesis, characterization and application of AuNPs. All the methods applied and the materials used during research are mentioned below:

3.1. Chemicals

3.1.1. de Man, Rogosa and Sharpe Media (MRS)

de Man, Rogosa and Sharpe media (LAB, United Kingdom) was used for the growth of bacterial strains, used in the synthesis of AuNPs. This media was prepared by adding 70 grams of powder broth in 1 liter of distilled water. Media was then sterilized by autoclaving at 121°C.

 Table 3.1: Chemical composition and percentage representation of de Man, Rogosa and

 Sharpe media

Chemicals	Percentage (w/v)/liter, (v/v)/liter		
Beef Extract (Merck, Germany)	1%		
Yeast Extract (Merck, Germany)	0.4%		
Peptone (Merck, Germany)	1%		
Glucose (Merck, Germnay)	2.0%		
Sodium Acetate Trihydrate (Sigma Aldrich, Germany)	0.5%		

Triammonium Citrate (Sigma Aldrich,	0.2%		
Germany)			
Di potassium Hydrogen Phosphate	0.2%		
(Merck, Germany)			
Magnesium Sulphate (Merck, Germany)	0.02%		
Manganese Sulphate Tetrahydrate (Merck,	0.005%		
Germany)			
Tween 80	0.1% v/v		

3.1.2. Nutrient Media

Nutrient agar (Oxoid, Germany) and nutrient broth (LAB, United Kingdom) media was used for the growth of pathogenic bacteria and for disc diffusion assay to evaluate antibacterial property of AuNPs. This media was prepared by adding the following components in 1 liter distilled water followed by autoclaving at 121°C for sterilization.

Chemicals	Percentage (m/v)/liter		
Sodium Chloride	0.5%		
Agar	1.5%		
Peptone	0.5%		
Beef extract	0.3%		

3.2. Biosynthesis of Gold Nanoparticles (AuNPs)

3.2.1. Isolation of Lactobacillus specie

Molecularly identified species of lactobacilli was used for the preparation of AuNPs. These strains were identified on the basis of their 16S rRNA sequencing. The lactobacilli specie, isolated from animal sources, *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* HFI-K2 was used for AuNPs synthesis.

The strain was stored in 25% glycerol stocks at -20°C.

3.2.2. Sample Preparation

Sample for inoculation was prepared by inoculating 20μ l of glycerol stocks containing spores of lactobacilli strain on MRS agar plate. These plates were kept in an incubator at 37° C for 24 hours. To identify strains on the basis of morphology, inoculum was spread on MRS agar plates using inoculating loop. Single colonies on plates were picked to inoculate MRS broth. The stocks were further stored at -20° C.

3.2.3. Inoculation and Incubation

Cultures on MRS agar plates were used to inoculate 100ml of MRS broth, maintained in reagent bottles, using inoculating loops. These broth cultures were kept in a shaking incubator at 37° C for 24 hours. After incubation, turbidity of broth was evaluated and 25ml of broth was separately taken in 50ml falcon tubes. These falcons were then centrifuged at 6300 x g for 5min and pellet was obtained. These were washed thoroughly with distilled water and supernatant was removed. Pellet was then dissolved in 25ml of 1mM chloroauric acid solution. Reaction mixtures were then incubated on shaking incubator for 48-72 hours at 37° C and 120 x g in dark. After incubation, red colored pellet settles down with a clear supernatant. Centrifuge this suspension at 2500 x g for 5min. Supernatant was discarded and alternating cycles of sonication and centrifugation were performed on the reaction mixture, now in eppendorfs. Sonication at 2500 x g for 5min. These processes were performed 3 times with a final centrifugation step. AuNPs were collected in pellet form by

centrifugation at maximum speed for 15 min. These pellets were washed with 80% methanol and air dried to obtain AuNPs in powder form.

3.3. Optimization of Physico-Chemical Parameters

AuNPs synthesis involved the optimization of various physico-chemical parameters for better yield. These reactions were performed before subjecting AuNPs to characterization techniques. For optimization, different reaction mixtures were set before analysis through UV/Vis spectrophotometer. Absorbance was measured at wavelength 200-800nm but 540nm is the accurate wavelength for AuNPs. Deionized water was used as blank in spectrophotometer. Spectral analysis of reaction mixtures were performed by software attached to instrument and data was plotted on graphs to observe data of different samples simultaneously.

3.3.1. Effect of Concentration of Salt Solution

To evaluate optimal concentration of salt solution required for AuNPs synthesis, bacterial biomass was challenged with different concentrations of salt solution. For optimization, solutions of 1mM, 1.5mM 2mM, 3mM, 4mM and 5mM were prepared. After setting up reaction, color change was observed and spectral analysis were performed.

3.3.2. Effect of Temperature

Reaction mixtures were set up by challenging bacterial biomass to 1mM salt solution concentration and these reaction mixtures were incubated at 20° C, 30° C, 40° C, 50° C and 60° C. Color change was observed in these mixtures and were then subjected to spectral analysis.

3.3.3. Effect of Reaction Time

AuNPs biosynthesis was also evaluated at different reaction times. It provided us the time taken by reactants and substrate to synthesize AuNPs. Reactions were set for 24hr, 48hr, 72hr, 96hr and 120hr. These reactions were then subjected to UV/Vis spectral analysis.

3.4. Characterization of AuNPs

3.4.1. UV/Vis Spectrophotometry

Newly synthesized AuNPs were subjected to characterization by Ultraviolet – Visible spectrophotometry (UV/Vis) because these particles interact with light at a specific wavelength which results in specific optical properties of these NPs. Synthesis of AuNPs was further verified by evaluating the absorbance spectrum of reaction mixture in 300-800nm range. Spectrum was obtained using 2ml test volume with 1cm path length quartz cuvette. Deionized water was used as blank for correction of base line of spectrophotometer. UV/Vis spectral analysis software was used to recording, storing and analyzing spectral data. The numerical data obtained was plotted on graphs for comparison.

3.4.2. Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) Spectroscopy

This spectroscopy utilized the Perkin-Elmer Spectrum-100 spectrometer (United States) for determining functional groups present on AuNPs. Air-dried sample was mixed with KBr, due to its hygroscopic properties, to remove any water molecule present in sample. Hydraulic press was used to form pellet of sample and KBr. Pellet was then subjected to infrared waves and was scanned at a range of 4000-350 cm⁻¹ with 4 cm⁻¹ resolution. The spectrum obtained was plotted against transmittance (%) on Y-axis v/s wave number (cm-1) on X-axis. Peaks obtained from this spectrum was compared with standard functional group charts by manual peak picking method. FTIR spectra of AuNPs and biomass, from which bacteria was synthesized, were also compared.

3.4.3. X-Ray Diffraction (XRD)

XRD analysis were performed on D8 Advance instruement of BRUKER company (Germany). Air-dried sample of AuNPs was used for XRD analysis. Sample was loaded on the glass plate of instrument and spectra was recorded. The instrument was ran at a voltage of 40kV and 40mA current was passed with Cu-K α radiation (λ = 1.58Å). Samples were scanned at 20 with a range of 20-80° and time an increment of 0.02°/0.1 sec interval. Average diameter of NPs was measured using Debye-Scherrer equation:

 $D = 0.9\lambda/\beta \cos\theta,$

D (nm) is the size, λ (nm) is the wavelength of Cu-K radiation, β (radians) is the full width at half maximum (FWHM), and θ (radians) is the half of the Bragg angle.

3.4.4. Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

SEM analysis are performed to evaluate morphology and size of NPs. SEM was conducted in a VEGA3 instrument of TESCAN company (Czech Republic). Accelerating voltage of microscope range was set at 20kV, 11 beam intensity and working distance of 15mm for the sample.

3.4.4.1. Sample Preparation

10µl of colloidal gold nanoparticle solution was added to 10ml deionized water in glass vials. These glass vials were subjected to ultra-sonication (Ultrasonicator, Cole Parmer) for 1 hour at 37°C. A drop of these homogenized sample was transferred to 1cm² cut glass slides and dried in oven for 15 minutes. Sputtering of sample, with gold palladium, was done in a Sputter coater Model SC7620, running at 18-20mA, 240V to a thickness of 15nm. Sputtering was performed to make sample conductive and was then used for SEM analysis. Images were taken at different resolution and magnification for characterization of AuNPs.

3.4.5. Energy Dispersive X-Ray Spectroscopy (EDS)

EDS describe the elemental composition and their abundance in sample. These compositional analysis were conducted by the EDS attached with LMU SEM.

3.5. Antibacterial Activity

Antibacterial activity is the major property of AuNPs. To evaluate their bactericidal potential, disc diffusion assay was performed against 6 bacterial isolates.

3.5.1. Collection of Bacterial Isolates

Bacterial isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Escherichia coli* and *Bacillus subtilis* were kindly provided by Dr. Fazal Adnan ASAB, NUST. Bacterial isolates of *Pseudomonas nitroreducens, Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella enterica*, isolated from animal sources were identified by 16S rRNA. These strains were grown overnight on nutrient agar plates prior to performing disc diffusion assay.

3.5.2. Preparation of Concentration of AuNPs

Pellet of AuNPs were dispersed in 1ml of deionized water by vortexing at high speed, followed by sonication for 1 hour. Different concentrations of AuNPs 60µg/ml, 80µg/ml were prepared in eppendorff tubes. Theses suspension were used for evaluating antibacterial activity.

3.5.3. Preparation of Cell Free Supernatant (CFS)

The lactobacillus specie was inoculated in 10ml MRS broth for 24 hours at 37° C. Cultured media was centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 10min. Supernatant was syringe filtered using a 0.2µM syringe filter (Corning, USA) and stored at 4° C.

3.5.4. Preparation of Media

Nutrient agar media was prepared by dissolving 28g in distilled water and sterilized by autoclaving. Liquid media was poured in autoclaved petri plates and allowed to solidify in laminar flow hood to avoid contamination. Plates were then sealed and kept in an incubator at 37°C to ensure the sterility of plates before experimentation.

3.5.5. Inoculation of Bacterial Isolates

All 6 bacterial isolates, streaked on nutrient agar plates, were used to inoculate nutrient broth in 15ml falcon tubes using inoculation loops. All 6 falcons were incubated at 37°C for 24 hours.

3.5.6. Disc Diffusion Assay

Disc diffusion method was employed to evaluate bactericidal potential of AuNPs. This experiment was performed in laminar flow hood after application of UV light for 15 minutes to avoid contamination. Nutrient agar petri plates were used for this activity. 5 sections were marked on each petri plate, two sections represented different concentrations of AuNPs such as 60µg/ml and 80µg/ml, next section was of cell free extract (CFE) and last two sections represented positive and negative control. These petri plates were cultured using sterilized cotton swabs and dipping them in nutrient broth containing bacterial isolates growth. A broad spectrum antibiotic cefoxitine disc was used as a positive control. Whereas, for negative control, deionized water was used. Incubate these reaction for 24hrs

at 37°C and evaluate inhibition zone on petri plates after incubation. This activity was performed in triplicates.

3.6. Antioxidant activity of AuNPs

Antioxidant potential of fully characterized AuNPs was evaluated by using 2,2-di-phenyl-2-picryl hydrazyl hydrate (DPPH) assay. DPPH assay is popular in determining antioxidant activity of natural products. Protocol used for performing this assay was modified from previously described DPPH assays. This assay works on the principle that a hydrogen donor is known as an antioxidant. DPPH reagent have the ability to interact with the antioxidant that causes its reduction. DPPH is a calorimetric substance and its reduction can be monitored by observing visual change from purple to light yellow color or by performing spectral analysis using UV/Vis spectrophotometer at 517nm. To perform this assay, fresh 1mM DPPH solution was prepared in methanol and different concentration of AuNPs (50µg/ml, 100µg/ml, 250µg/ml and 500µg/ml) were prepared and added to this solution. These reaction mixtures were incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes in dark, before measuring absorbance at 517nm. % Free radical scavenging potential of AuNPs was deduced using following formula:

% scavenging radical = [Absorbance of Control – Absorbance of Test Sample/ Absorbance of Control] X 100

Control samples are untreated DPPH solution in methanol whereas, test samples are AuNPs treated with methanolic DPPH solution. This experiment was performed in triplicates and obtained results were plotted on graph to compare antioxidant property of AuNPs at different concentrations.

Chapter 4

RESULTS 4.1. Morphological analysis of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* HF1-K2

Previously sequenced bacterial strain of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* HF1-K2 was taken from glycerol stock and inoculated on MRS agar plates to identify it on the basis of morphology. Their morphology was also evaluated by observing the growth pattern of biomass in culture flasks.

L.rhamnosus was selected for the preparation of AuNPs due to excessive production of its enzymes that can convert Au ions into NPs. Figure 4.1 shows the morphology of a typical *L.rhamnosus* strain on MRS plate.



Figure 4.1: Pure culture of molecularly identified *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* on petri dish containing MRS agar

4.2. Observation of color change as initial confirmation of AuNPs synthesis

As the reaction between bacterial biomass and chloroauric acid proceeds, color change of reaction mixture confirms AuNPs synthesis. Color of reaction mixture was compared with the original color of chloroauric acid solution. As the reaction proceeds further, the color of reaction mixture changes from yellowish-white to dark violet. After 48 hours of incubation, solution mixture is dark red in color, whereas after 72 hours supernatant appeared colorless and a violet colored pellet settled down. This color change was attributed to the reduction of Au ions into gold metal due to oxidoreductase enzymes present in bacterial biomass. Observing color change is believed to be the first step in confirmation of synthesis of AuNPs by this bio-reduction reaction.



a)

b)

Figure 4.2: Comparison of Color change between a) Gold salt solutions [after 24hrs]

b) Reaction Mixture (bacterial biomass and salt solution) [after 48hrs].

4.3. Confirmation by UV/Vis Spectral Analysis

Spectral analysis of reaction mixture was performed through Ultra-Violet/Visible (UV/Vis) spectrophotometer that confirmed synthesis of AuNPs as absorbance peak was observed in the range of 300-800nm, as was reported in literature. Figure 4.3 shows the UV/Vis spectra of bacterial biomass in the absence of gold salt solution, here it is observed that it lacks the peak indicating the synthesis of AuNPs. Whereas Figure 4.4 shows the UV/Vis spectrum of the reaction mixture containing bacterial biomass and salt solution. It can be clearly observed that the absorbance peak obtained around 540 nm are unique to confirm the synthesis of AuNPs in the reaction mixture. Spectral analysis between 200-300 nm are not presented as there were certain proteins that have shown absorbance in this region which tend to make noise. Following figures of spectral analysis shows the synthesis of AuNPs as a function of interaction between enzymes in bacterial biomass and salt solution.



Figure 4.3: UV/Vis spectrum of bacterial biomass indicating absence of peak



Figure 4.4: UV/Vis spectrum of Reaction Mixture indicating peak at 540nm.

4.4. Optimization of Physio-chemical Parameters for AuNPs Biosynthesis

Different reaction mixtures were set at different conditions to evaluate optimal parameter for AuNPs biosynthesis. All these reaction mixtures were then subjected to UV/Vis spectral analysis and absorbance was obtained.

4.4.1. Effect of Gold Salt Solution

Gold solution act as a substrate for enzyme present in bacterial biomass. Optimal concentration of gold solution is necessary for AuNPs biosynthesis reaction. So, in order to know maximum concentration of substrate required to provide sufficient yield of gold nanoparticles, different reactions were set up. In these reactions, different concentrations of gold solution were subjected to bacterial biomass. It was observed that as the molarity of solution is increased, absorbance of nanoparticles also increased but up to 5mM concentration of salt solution. With further increase in concentration, there was decrease

in the synthesis of AuNPs. It was evaluated that at 10mM concentration, metal ion concentration increases causing toxicity and hinders AuNPs synthesis.

4.4.2. Effect of Temperature

Temperature acts as a crucial factor in the catalytic activity of enzymes. For AuNPs biosynthesis, Au ions are reduced to AuNPs by the activity of enzymes so reaction mixtures were set up at different temperatures and their absorbance values were evaluated. Spectral analysis of these reactions indicated 30°C as optimum temperature for AuNPs biosynthesis by *Lactobacillus rhamnosus*. No significant difference was recorded between values at different temperatures but absorbance was very low at higher temperatures as enzymes in biomass cannot work at that temperature



Figure 4.5: Comparison of absorbance value of reaction mixtures at different temperatures.

4.4.3. Effect of Reaction Time

Reaction time or incubation time plays an important role in biosynthesis of AuNPs. Certain amount of time is required by enzymes to reduce metal ions into NPs. It was observed that AuNPs were synthesized in 72 hours. So it was concluded that reactivity of enzymes in

Chapter 4

biomass increased with the passage of time and was stabilized after 72 hours. Spectral analysis at 96 hours revealed that AuNPs remained stable in reaction.



Figure 4.6: Comparison of absorbance value of reaction mixtures set up at different reaction times.

4.5. Characterization of AuNPs

4.5.1. X-ray Diffraction Analysis

XRD analysis was used to verify the phase and crystallinity of AuNPs. The diffracted intensity was recorded from 0° to $80^{\circ} 2$ (θ) as shown in Figure 4.7. Characteristic peaks of AuNPs were indexed to (111), (200), (220) and (311) lattice plane of Bragg's reflection. The sharpest peak is observed at 38.29° and it corresponds to (111) plane. Three other peaks observed at (200), (220) and (311) planes corresponds to 44.32°, 64.54° and 77.59° respectively. Intensity observed at these lattice planes were much lower than intensity at (111) index plane, it signifies that all nanoparticles are in (111) orientation. XRD results implied that these biogenic AuNPs are face-centered cubic and crystalline.



Figure 4.7: X-Ray diffraction pattern of purified AuNPs synthesized from Lactobacillus rhamnosus

4.5.2 Fourier Transformed Infrared (FTIR) Analysis

FTIR analysis were conducted to evaluate functional group forming property of the sample. Activity of functional groups, present in chemical and enzymes, is required for biosynthesis of NPs because these functional groups act as stabilizing and capping agents on NPs. Perkin-Elmer Spectrum-100 FTIR spectrophotometer was used for FTIR analysis of sample and following graphs were obtained.

FTIR spectrum of AuNPs was compared with spectrum of biomass of bacteria, Figure 4.8 represents FTIR spectrum of biomass whereas, Figure 4.9 represents FTIR spectrum of reaction mixture. It was evident that FTIR spectrum of AuNPs possess peaks that are not present in spectrum of biomass. Peaks shown at 3331 cm⁻¹ is due to aliphatic primary amine

group (N-H) stretching vibration, that shows medium bonding and band appeared is broad. Band at 1638 cm⁻¹ represents amide bond (C=O) stretching. Whereas, peak at 1243 cm⁻¹ is due to amine (N-H) stretching vibration. Bands for primary alcohol (C-H) appear at 1078 cm⁻¹. C=O represents carbonyl group in amides linkage in proteins. These proteins and amino acid residues (tryptophan, cysteine and tyrosine) have been reported to provide stability to biosynthesized AuNPs. Microbial mediated AuNPs possess binding affinity to amides and thiols, present in proteins. Presence of these functional groups show that free amino groups can form capping layer on AuNPs thus, preventing them from agglomeration.



Figure 4.8: Infrared spectrum of bacterial biomass.



Figure 4.9: Infrared spectrum of reaction mixture containing biogenic AuNPs.

4.5.3. Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) Analysis

SEM images of AuNPs were taken at different resolutions to determine average particles size and morphology of these NPs. These images reveal that the newly synthesized AuNPs are spherical and were distributed uniformly in aqueous colloidal solution. SEM images also showed the agglomeration of AuNPs and the biosynthesis of nanorods. These results occurred, due to the delay between sonication process and SEM analysis. Average particles size was 50-70nm according to SEM analysis.



Figure 4.10: SEM image of AuNPs at 50µm resolution.



Figure 4.11: SEM image of AuNPs at 5µm resolution.



Figure 4.12: SEM image of AuNPs at 2µm resolution.



Figure 4.13: SEM image of AuNPs at 1µm resolution.



Figure 4.14: SEM image of AuNPs at 500nm resolution.



Figure 4.15: SEM image of AuNPs at 500nm resolution with particle identification.



Figure 4.16: SEM image of AuNPs at 50µm resolution.



Figure 4.17: SEM image of AuNPs at 500nm resolution with particle identification.

4.5.4 Energy Dispersive X-Ray Spectroscopy (EDS) Analysis

EDS analysis of sample indicated the presence of AuNPs. Their presence was confirmed by the presence of sharp peaks in EDS graph shown below. EDS analysis was done by the instrument linked to SEM and used SEM sample as shown in Figure 4.18. EDS spectrum showed highest peak at 2.3keV which is characteristic peak of metallic Au. Table shows the elemental composition of metal in sample. Au accounts for 4.91% of complete sample.





Element	App. Conc.	Intensity	Weight %	Atomic
СК	7.99	0.3597	30.47	46.54
ОК	10.64	0.5376	27.13	31.11
Na K	3.40	0.9665	4.82	3.85
Mg K	0.94	0.7994	1.61	1.21
Al K	0.25	0.8814	0.39	0.27
Si K	15.31	0.9562	21.95	14.34
Са К	2.62	0.9331	3.86	1.77
Au M	4.91	0.6880	9.78	0.91
Total		100		

Figure 4.18: EDS graph of AuNPs a) SEM image region from which EDS data was taken. b) EDS analysis graph. c) Elemental composition by EDS.

4.6. Anti-bacterial Assay by Disc Diffusion

AuNPs exhibit significant anti-bacterial activity so various reactions were set up at different concentrations against 6 bacteria by using disc diffusion assay. Two concentrations of AuNPs used were 60µg/ml and 80µg/ml. Cell free extract of bacterial culture was also used to evaluate its bactericidal activity. Results indicate that bactericidal activity of AuNPs is dose-dependent and increases with an increase in the concentration. AuNPs were effective against all bacterial strains such as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Escherichia coli, Bacillus subtilis, Pseudomonas nitroreducens* and *Salmonella enterica*. Maximum zone of inhibition was measured to be 18mm thus, signifying the effectiveness of AuNPs against bacterial isolates. Cell free extract of

(c)

Chapter 4

bacterial strain also exhibited bactericidal properties against all strains. For positive and negative controls antibiotic cefoxitin and deionized water were used respectively. Negative control did not show any zone of inhibition. Thus, it was concluded that zone of inhibition around discs appeared due to presence of AuNPs.



Figure 4.19: Zone of inhibition by biogenic AuNPs and positive control Cefoxitine



Figure 4.20: Comparison of zone of inhibition of bacterial isolates after application of AuNPs of different concentrations. P value 0.001**

4.7. Antioxidant potential by DPPH assay

Antioxidant potential of biogenic AuNPs was assessed by DPPH assay. Results of DPPH revealed that scavenging ability of AuNPs increase with an increase in concentration. For this assay, percentage inhibition of DPPH was calculated and compared with a reference. Ascorbic acid, a natural antioxidant, is used as positive control. It shows 89% of scavenging ability at 500µg/ml. However, maximum scavenging ability showed by AuNPs was 67% at similar concentrations. These results show that there occur a significant difference between scavenging ability of ascorbic acid and AuNPs. AuNPs possess significant antioxidant ability but it is not comparable with natural antioxidants. Following graph shows free radical scavenging ability of ascorbic acid and AuNPs.



Figure 4.21: Comparison of absorbance values of different concentrations of Ascorbic acid (Positive Control) and AuNPs (Test sample) through DPPH assay P value < 0.001***



Figure 4.22: Free radical scavenging ability of AuNPs compared with ascorbic acid at different concentration by DPPH assay P value 0.0004***

Chapter 5

DISCUSSION

Nanomedicine deals with synthesis of new drugs and therapeutic tools that overcome the side effects caused by conventional modes of treatment. Using nanotechnology in medicine will revolutionize the way we treat and observe diseases in humans. The term nanotechnology is defined as the manipulation of matter to provide tools for humans. Use of nanomedicines promises to develop products better than conventional methods and bright future for high quality research (Murray et al., 2000).

Among metallic nanoparticles, AuNPs are extensively used in bionanotechnology. AuNPs have attracted great interest due to their ease of synthetic manipulation, optical, magnetic, catalytic and electronic properties. AuNPs have many biotechnology-based applications such as sensory probes, drug delivery vehicle and therapeutic techniques. These particles can be excited by light which allows them to be contrast agents for phototherapeutic and diagnostics application such Raman scattering, light scattering imaging and photo-thermal therapy. Moreover, by changing particle size, aggregation state or surface functionality, electronic and optical properties can be adjusted to use in different fields (Hasan, 2015).

Various methods can be employed for synthesizing NPs. These include several physicchemical and biological methods. Physico-chemical methods are not preferred today because of the use of toxic chemicals which increases production cost. These processes require heavy instrumentation and extremely capable staff therefore, biological methods or green synthesis is preferred. Biological methods refers to the use of biological system such as algae, viruses, bacteria, fungi, fungi for the production of NPs. These biological system provide ease of biomass production, easy functionality, does not require specific chemicals or media and very cost-effective. These methods also provide the ease of scaling up. Each of these systems have their advantages and disadvantages.

In this study, bacteria *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* HF1-K2 is used to synthesize AuNPs. Several studies have been conducted to produce AuNPs using lactobacillus species but this

bacteria has not been used previously. AuNPs have been synthesized earler using *Lactobacillus kimchicus* and *Lactobacillus casei*. Bacteria are used due to the presence of oxidoreductase enzymes that catalyze the bio-reduction reaction of Au ions into AuNPs. Synthesis of AuNPs was first optimized by setting up different reaction of gold solution and bacterial biomass. Gold solution act as a source of gold ions that can be used by enzymes.

Whole cells of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* were used as catalysts for AuNPs synthesis. Use of intracellular enzymes largely eliminate costs for downstream processing of nanoparticles purification but coenzymes are required to sustain bioreduction reaction (Korbekandi, Iravani, & Abbasi, 2012). Use of whole cells provide the advantage of coenzymes recovery through metabolic pathways thus, replenishment of expensive coenzymes can be avoided (Iravani, 2014). Moreover, it was reported by Pradeep and Nair that small nanocluster formed outside bacterial cells have tendency to aggregate (Nair & Pradeep, 2002). Therefore, NPs formed inside cells are more stable than synthesized from intracellular enzymes.

Initial AuNPs synthesis confirmation was done by observing color change of the reaction mixture as it turned from pale yellow color to red which is a unique feature of AuNPs due to SPR phenomenon. Synthesis parameters of AuNPs by *L.rhamnosus* were optimized by setting up different reactions at varying temperature, molarity and time. These reactions showed the optimal parameters for biosynthesis to be 72 hours with 1mM gold solution at 30°C. after incubation, violet colored pellet settles down with a clear colorless supernatant. Growth media did not show any color change upon challenging with gold solution, after the removal of biomass. These results clearly indicate that synthesis of AuNPs occurred intracellularly. AuNPs were harvested for biomass by subjecting pellets to alternating cycles of centrifugation and ultra-sonication to disrupt cells. Complete mechanism of AuNPs synthesis has not yet been fully elucidated but it has been reported that Lactobacilli species synthesized AuNPs intracellularly (Nair & Pradeep, 2002). It has been reported NADH-dependent enzymes by microbes are responsible for conversion of gold ions into AuNPs whereas amino acid residues and proteins provide stabilization (Banerjee, 2013).

Synthesis was further verified by UV/Vis spectral analysis that shows characteristic AuNPs peak at 540nm. Absorbance of AuNPs at wavelength of 540nm was recorded to be 1.9. In another study, AuNPs synthesized using *Lactobacillus kimchicus* DCY51 showed an absorbance of 0.8 with average size of particles being 14nm (Markus et al., 2016). Current study shows high absorbance value due to large size of particles synthesized by *L.rhamnosus* i.e. 50-70nm. Absorbance value obtained after 2hr of AuNPs synthesis was recorded to be 1.9 whereas, after 4hr it was 1.5. No further change was observed in absorbance values of these particles.

Crystallinity of AuNPs was confirmed by their XRD profile analysis. Figure 4.6 represents XRd diffractogram of biosynthesized AuNPs. Four peaks were indexed to (111), (200), (220) and (311) planes according to Bragg's equation. Sharpest peak was measured at 38.16^othat corresponds to (111) plane. Similar results of XRD analysis were also reported in a study that synthesized flower shaped AuNPs using microbes (Singh, Kim, et al., 2016).

FTIR spectrum of biosynthesized AuNPs provide information about presence of functional groups. AuNPs spectrum was compared with FTIR spectrum of biomass. It is evident from Figure 4.7 and 4.8 that AuNPs spectrum contain bands that are not present in biomass spectrum. Bands shown in spectrum corresponds to stretching of amide, amine and alcohol bonds. Carbonyl groups in amide bonds corresponds to proteins. Proteins and amino acid residues have been reported to provide stabilization to newly synthesized AuNPs (Kanchi et al., 2014). Several studies reported binding affinity of AuNPs to amino residues through electrostatic interactions (C. S. Kumar, Raja, Sundar, Antoniraj, & Ruckmani, 2015). Proteins and amino acids have been studied to provide capping molecules to these AuNPs for protection (Shedbalkar, Singh, Wadhwani, Gaidhani, & Chopade, 2014)

AuNPs were further analyzed by SEM. Figure 4.10-4.16 showed AuNPs to be spherical and ranging in size from 50-70nm. Images of SEM analysis reveals that AuNPs are spherical in shape and did not lose their shape even after purification and disruption of cells. These particles were formed on bacterial cell membrane and retained their shape through process of centrifugation and ultra-sonication (Markus et al., 2016). EDS analysis indicated elemental composition and abundance of these elements in sample. EDS

Discussion

spectrum showed highest absorbance peak for Au at 2.3keV. This is characteristic absorbance peak for metallic gold as reported by (Singh, Singh, et al., 2016).

Bactericidal property of biosynthesized AuNPs have been studied against various bacteria to minimize the use of antibiotics. In this study, we evaluated antibacterial potential of AuNPs against *P.aeruginosa, E.coli, P.nitroreducens, B.subtilis, and S.enterica*. Different concentration of AuNPs were used and effect of cell free extract of *L.rhamnosus* was also tested. Increase in concentration of AuNPs increased its bactericidal property. In a study by Senthilkumar et al, bactericidal potential of AuNps synthesized from plant was evaluated. Zone of inhibition for 300µl/ml against *P.aeruginosa, E.coli,* and *B.subtilis* was 19mm, 17mm and 16mm. Whereas, in the current study, zone of inhibition at 80µg/ml against *P.aeruginosa, E.coli,* and *B.subtilis* was measured to be 17mm, 16mm and 17mm respectively.

% Free radical scavenging activity of biosynthesized AuNPs was evaluated by DPPH assay. AuNPs can reduce DPPH and it can be observed by measuring absorbance value at 517nm using UV/Vis spectroscopy. This assay showed that % free radical scavenging ability of AuNPs increase with increase in concentration of AuNPs. Scavenging ability recorded for the lowest concentration of 50µg/ml of AuNPs was 14%. Whereas, for highest concentration of 500µg/ml scavenging ability was recorded to be 64%. Increase in scavenging activity of AuNPs can correspond to increase antioxidant potential of probiotic bacteria. These results show that AuNPs possess significant radical scavenging ability but it cannot be compared with natural antioxidants.

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Current study was focused on synthesizing AuNPs using bacteria *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* as a potential intracellular system. Various physico-chemical parameters such as temperature, molarity and reaction time were optimized for biosynthesis. Optimal salt molarity, recation time and temperature were found to be 1mM for 72 hours at 30^oC. Newly synthesized AuNPs were then subjected to characterization techniques such as SEM, XRD, FTIR and EDS. Characterization of AuNPs revealed that these particles are spherical and range from 50-70nm. Amide bonds present in AuNPs help in their conjugation to other molecules that provide protection. AuNPs bactericidal properties against various pathogenic bacteria provides alternative to the use of antibiotics. AuNPs possess significant free radical scavenging ability but it cannot be compared with natural antioxidants such as

After complete analysis of results presented in this study, it is recommended to further characterize these nanoparticles using more sensitive techniques such as zeta potential, TEM and AFM. Most of the pathways of nanoparticles synthesis, their bioactivity and cytotoxicity are still unknown. These underlying pathways needs to be investigated using different methods such as in silico approaches can be used. Interaction of AuNPs with microbial and human components needs to be modeled. Information on cell cycle genes and proteins can provide useful information about their molecular pathways and functioning that leads to cytotoxicity of AuNPs. AuNPs, have been used in many studies, as a drug delivery vehicle so its conjugation with other biomolecules can be performed to enhance its drug carrying and delivering capacity. This research should be taken to animal models, by evaluating the toxicity of these nanoparticles on mouse.

References

REFERENCES

- Agasti, S. S., Chompoosor, A., You, C.-C., Ghosh, P., Kim, C. K., & Rotello, V. M. (2009). Photoregulated release of caged anticancer drugs from gold nanoparticles. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 131(16), 5728-5729.
- Aljabali, A. A., Akkam, Y., Al Zoubi, M. S., Al-Batayneh, K. M., Al-Trad, B., Abo Alrob, O., . . . Evans,
 D. J. (2018). Synthesis of Gold Nanoparticles Using Leaf Extract of Ziziphus zizyphus and
 their Antimicrobial Activity. *Nanomaterials*, 8(3), 174.
- Allaker, R., Vargas-Reus, M., & Ren, G. (2012). Nanometals as antimicrobials. *Antimicrobial Polymers2011*, 327-350.
- Amendola, V., & Meneghetti, M. (2009). Laser ablation synthesis in solution and sizemanipulation of noble metal nanoparticles. *Physical chemistry chemical physics, 11*(20), 3805-3821.
- Anker, J. N., Hall, W. P., Lyandres, O., Shah, N. C., Zhao, J., & Van Duyne, R. P. (2010). Biosensing with plasmonic nanosensors *Nanoscience And Technology: A Collection of Reviews from Nature Journals* (pp. 308-319): World Scientific.
- Aryal, S., Grailer, J. J., Pilla, S., Steeber, D. A., & Gong, S. (2009). Doxorubicin conjugated gold nanoparticles as water-soluble and pH-responsive anticancer drug nanocarriers. *Journal* of Materials Chemistry, 19(42), 7879-7884.
- Astefanei, A., Núñez, O., & Galceran, M. T. (2015). Characterisation and determination of fullerenes: a critical review. *Analytica chimica acta, 882*, 1-21.
- Atkins, P., & Overton, T. (2010). *Shriver and Atkins' inorganic chemistry*: Oxford University Press, USA.
- Austin, L. A., Kang, B., & El-Sayed, M. A. (2015). Probing molecular cell event dynamics at the single-cell level with targeted plasmonic gold nanoparticles: A review. *NanoToday*, 10(5), 542-558.
- Balbus, J. M., Maynard, A. D., Colvin, V. L., Castranova, V., Daston, G. P., Denison, R. A., . . .
 Kulinowski, K. M. (2007). Meeting report: hazard assessment for nanoparticles—report
 from an interdisciplinary workshop. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *115*(11), 1654.
- Banerjee, U. C. (2013). Synthesis of gold nanoparticles using whole cells of Geotrichum candidum. Journal of Nanoparticles, 2013.
- Barber, D., & Freestone, I. C. (1990). An investigation of the origin of the colour of the Lycurgus Cup by analytical transmission electron microscopy. *Archaeometry*, *32*(1), 33-45.

- Bhattacharya, R., & Mukherjee, P. (2008). Biological properties of "naked" metal nanoparticles. Advanced drug delivery reviews, 60(11), 1289-1306.
- Bhattacharya, R., Patra, C. R., Verma, R., Kumar, S., Greipp, P. R., & Mukherjee, P. (2007). Gold nanoparticles inhibit the proliferation of multiple myeloma cells. *Advanced materials*, 19(5), 711-716.
- Bickford, L. R., Chang, J., Fu, K., Sun, J., Hu, Y., Gobin, A., . . . Drezek, R. A. (2008). Evaluation of immunotargeted gold nanoshells as rapid diagnostic imaging agents for HER2-overexpressing breast cancer cells: a time-based analysis. *Nanobiotechnology*, 4(1-4),1-8.
- Bindhu, M., & Umadevi, M. (2014). Antibacterial activities of green synthesized gold nanoparticles. *Materials Letters, 120,* 122-125.
- Blatchford, C.-G., Campbell, J., & Creighton, J. A. (1982). Plasma resonance enhanced raman scattering by absorbates on gold colloids: The effects of aggregation. *Surface Science*, *120*(2), 435-455.
- Bowman, M.-C., Ballard, T. E., Ackerson, C. J., Feldheim, D. L., Margolis, D. M., & Melander, C.
 (2008). Inhibition of HIV fusion with multivalent gold nanoparticles. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 130(22), 6896-6897.
- Brown, C., Whitehouse, M., Tiekink, E., & Bushell, G. (2008). Colloidal metallic gold is notbio-inert. Inflammopharmacology, 16(3), 133-137.
- Buzea, C., Pacheco, I. I., & Robbie, K. (2007). Nanomaterials and nanoparticles: sources and toxicity. *Biointerphases*, 2(4), MR17-MR71.
- Capomaccio, R., Jimenez, I. O., Colpo, P., Gilliland, D., Ceccone, G., Rossi, F., & Calzolai, L. (2015). Determination of the structure and morphology of gold nanoparticle–HSA protein complexes. *Nanoscale*, 7(42), 17653-17657.
- Catherine, L., & Olivier, P. (2017). *Gold nanoparticles for physics, chemistry and biology*: World Scientific.
- Chen, J., & Irudayaraj, J. (2009). Quantitative investigation of compartmentalized dynamics of ErbB2 targeting gold nanorods in live cells by single molecule spectroscopy. ACS nano, 3(12), 4071-4079.
- Chithrani, B. D., Ghazani, A. A., & Chan, W. C. (2006). Determining the size and shape dependence of gold nanoparticle uptake into mammalian cells. *Nano letters, 6*(4), 662-668.
- Cho, E. J., Holback, H., Liu, K. C., Abouelmagd, S. A., Park, J., & Yeo, Y. (2013). Nanoparticle characterization: state of the art, challenges, and emerging technologies. *Molecular pharmaceutics*, *10*(6), 2093-2110.
- Cho, S. H. (2005). Estimation of tumour dose enhancement due to gold nanoparticles during typical radiation treatments: a preliminary Monte Carlo study. *Physics in Medicine & Biology*, *50*(15), N163.
- Choi, Y.-J., Chiu, C.-K., & Luo, T.-J. M. (2010). Spontaneous deposition of gold nanoparticle nanocomposite on polymer surfaces through sol–gel chemistry. *Nanotechnology*, *22*(4), 045601.
- Colomban, P. (2009). The use of metal nanoparticles to produce yellow, red and iridescent colour, from bronze age to present times in lustre pottery and glass: solid state chemistry, spectroscopy and nanostructure. Paper presented at the Journal of Nano Research.
- Connor, E. E., Mwamuka, J., Gole, A., Murphy, C. J., & Wyatt, M. D. (2005). Gold nanoparticles are taken up by human cells but do not cause acute cytotoxicity. *Small*, *1*(3), 325-327.
- Corti, C. W., & Holliday, R. J. (2004). Commercial aspects of gold applications: from materials science to chemical science. *Gold Bulletin*, *37*(1-2), 20-26.
- Corti, C. W., Holliday, R. J., & Thompson, D. T. (2002). Developing new industrial applications for gold: gold nanotechnology. *Gold Bulletin, 35*(4), 111-117.
- Cui, Y., Zhao, Y., Tian, Y., Zhang, W., Lü, X., & Jiang, X. (2012). The molecular mechanism of action of bactericidal gold nanoparticles on Escherichia coli. *Biomaterials, 33*(7), 2327-2333.
- Daniel, M.-C., & Astruc, D. (2004). Gold nanoparticles: assembly, supramolecular chemistry, quantum-size-related properties, and applications toward biology, catalysis, and nanotechnology. *Chemical reviews*, *104*(1), 293-346.
- de la Fuente, J. M., & Berry, C. C. (2005). Tat peptide as an efficient molecule to translocate gold nanoparticles into the cell nucleus. *Bioconjugate chemistry*, *16*(5), 1176-1180.
- Dreaden, E. C., Alkilany, A. M., Huang, X., Murphy, C. J., & El-Sayed, M. A. (2012). The golden age: gold nanoparticles for biomedicine. *Chemical Society Reviews*, *41*(7), 2740-2779.
- Dror-Ehre, A., Mamane, H., Belenkova, T., Markovich, G., & Adin, A. (2009). Silver nanoparticle–E. coli colloidal interaction in water and effect on E. coli survival. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 339*(2), 521-526.

- Drygin, Y. F., Blintsov, A., Osipov, A., Grigorenko, V., Andreeva, I., Uskov, A., . . . Atabekov, J. (2009). High-sensitivity express immunochromatographic method for detection of plantinfection by tobacco mosaic virus. *Biochemistry (Moscow), 74*(9), 986-993.
- Du, L., Jiang, H., Liu, X., & Wang, E. (2007). Biosynthesis of gold nanoparticles assisted by Escherichia coli DH5α and its application on direct electrochemistry of hemoglobin. *Electrochemistry Communications, 9*(5), 1165-1170.
- Dubchak, S., Ogar, A., Mietelski, J., & Turnau, K. (2010). Influence of silver and titanium nanoparticles on arbuscular mycorrhiza colonization and accumulation of radiocaesium in Helianthus annuus. *Spanish journal of agricultural research* (1), 103-108.
- Dulkeith, E., Niedereichholz, T., Klar, T., Feldmann, J., Von Plessen, G., Gittins, D., . . . Caruso, F. (2004). Plasmon emission in photoexcited gold nanoparticles. *Physical Review B, 70*(20), 205424.
- Duncan, B., Kim, C., & Rotello, V. M. (2010). Gold nanoparticle platforms as drug and biomacromolecule delivery systems. *Journal of Controlled Release, 148*(1), 122-127.
- Durán, N., Marcato, P. D., Durán, M., Yadav, A., Gade, A., & Rai, M. (2011). Mechanistic aspects in the biogenic synthesis of extracellular metal nanoparticles by peptides, bacteria, fungi, and plants. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 90*(5), 1609-1624.

Dykman, L., & Khlebtsov, N. (2017). Gold Nanoparticles in Biomedical Applications: CRC Press.

- Emery, A. A., Saal, J. E., Kirklin, S., Hegde, V. I., & Wolverton, C. (2016). High-throughput computational screening of perovskites for thermochemical water splitting applications. *Chemistry of Materials, 28*(16), 5621-5634.
- Feynman, R. P. (2012). There's plenty of room at the bottom: An invitation to enter a new field of physics Handbook of Nanoscience, Engineering, and Technology, Third Edition (pp.26-35):
 CRC Press.
- Freestone, I., Meeks, N., Sax, M., & Higgitt, C. (2007). The Lycurgus cup a roman nanotechnology. Gold bulletin, 40(4), 270-277.
- Gao, X., Cui, Y., Levenson, R. M., Chung, L. W., & Nie, S. (2004). In vivo cancertargeting and imaging with semiconductor quantum dots. *Nature biotechnology*, *22*(8), 969.
- Ghosh, P., Han, G., De, M., Kim, C. K., & Rotello, V. M. (2008). Gold nanoparticles in delivery applications. *Advanced drug delivery reviews, 60*(11), 1307-1315.
- Gomathy, M., & Sabarinathan, K. (2010). Microbial mechanisms of heavy metal tolerance-a review. *Agricultural Reviews*, *31*(2).

- Goodman, C. M., McCusker, C. D., Yilmaz, T., & Rotello, V. M. (2004). Toxicity of gold nanopartides functionalized with cationic and anionic side chains. *Bioconjugate chemistry*, *15*(4), 897-900.
- Hasan, S. (2015). A review on nanoparticles: their synthesis and types. *Research Journal of Recent Sciences*

ISSN, 2277, 2502.

Hayat, M. A. (2012). Colloidal gold: principles, methods, and applications: Elsevier.

- Hentschel, M., Metzger, B., Knabe, B., Buse, K., & Giessen, H. (2016). Linear and nonlinear optical properties of hybrid metallic–dielectric plasmonic nanoantennas. *Beilstein journal of nanotechnology*, *7*, 111.
- Hernández-Sierra, J. F., Ruiz, F., Pena, D. C. C., Martínez-Gutiérrez, F., Martínez, A. E., Guillén, A.
 d. J. P., . . . Castañón, G. M. (2008). The antimicrobial sensitivity of Streptococcus mutans to nanoparticles of silver, zinc oxide, and gold. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology* and Medicine, 4(3), 237-240.
- Horton, M. A., & Khan, A. (2006). Medical nanotechnology in the UK: a perspective from the London Centre for Nanotechnology. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine, 2*(1), 42-48.
- Hostetler, M. J., Wingate, J. E., Zhong, C.-J., Harris, J. E., Vachet, R. W., Clark, M. R., ... Wignall, G.
 D. (1998). Alkanethiolate gold cluster molecules with core diameters from 1.5 to 5.2 nm: core and monolayer properties as a function of core size. *Langmuir*, *14*(1), 17-30.
- Hu, R., Yong, K.-T., Roy, I., Ding, H., He, S., & Prasad, P. N. (2009). Metallic nanostructures as localized plasmon resonance enhanced scattering probes for multiplex dark-fieldtargeted imaging of cancer cells. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, 113(7), 2676-2684.
- Hunt, L. (1976). The true story of Purple of Cassius. Gold bulletin, 9(4), 134-139.
- Ide, M. S., & Davis, R. J. (2013). The important role of hydroxyl on oxidation catalysis by gold nanoparticles. *Accounts of chemical research*, *47*(3), 825-833.
- Iravani, S. (2014). Bacteria in nanoparticle synthesis: current status and future prospects. International scholarly research notices, 2014.
- Jahn, M., Patze, S., Hidi, I. J., Knipper, R., Radu, A. I., Mühlig, A., . . . Mayerhöfer, T. (2016). Plasmonic nanostructures for surface enhanced spectroscopic methods. *Analyst, 141*(3), 756-793.

- Johnston, H. J., Hutchison, G., Christensen, F. M., Peters, S., Hankin, S., & Stone, V. (2010). Areview of the in vivo and in vitro toxicity of silver and gold particulates: particle attributes and biological mechanisms responsible for the observed toxicity. *Critical reviews intoxicology,* 40(4), 328-346.
- Kam, N. W. S., Liu, Z., & Dai, H. (2006). Carbon nanotubes as intracell ular transporters for proteins and DNA: an investigation of the uptake mechanism and pathway. *Angewandte Chemie*, *118*(4), 591-595.
- Kanchi, S., Kumar, G., Lo, A.-Y., Tseng, C.-M., Chen, S.-K., Lin, C.-Y., & Chin, T.-S. (2014). Exploitation of de-oiled Jatropha waste for gold nanoparticles synthesis: a green approach. *Arabian journal of chemistry*.
- Kawasaki, E. S., & Player, A. (2005). Nanotechnology, nanomedicine, and the developmentofnew, effective therapies for cancer. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine,* 1(2), 101-109.
- Kelly, K. L., Coronado, E., Zhao, L. L., & Schatz, G. C. (2003). The optical properties of metal nanoparticles: the influence of size, shape, and dielectric environment: ACS Publications.
- Khan, I., Ali, S., Mansha, M., & Qurashi, A. (2017). Sonochemical assisted hydrothermal synthesis of pseudo-flower shaped Bismuth vanadate (BiVO4) and their solar-driven watersplitting application. *Ultrasonics sonochemistry, 36*, 386-392.
- Khan, I., Saeed, K., & Khan, I. (2017). Nanoparticles: Properties, applications and toxicities. *Arabian Journal of Chemistry*.
- Khan, J. A., Pillai, B., Das, T. K., Singh, Y., & Maiti, S. (2007). Molecular effects of uptake of gold nanoparticles in HeLa cells. *Chembiochem, 8*(11), 1237-1240.
- Khlebtsov, N., & Dykman, L. (2011). Biodistribution and toxicity of engineered gold nanoparticles: a review of in vitro and in vivo studies. *Chemical Society Reviews, 40*(3), 1647-1671.
- Kichler, A., Mason, A. J., & Bechinger, B. (2006). Cationic amphipathic histidine -rich peptides for gene delivery. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes, 1758*(3), 301-307.
- Kim, C. K., Ghosh, P., Pagliuca, C., Zhu, Z.-J., Menichetti, S., & Rotello, V. M. (2009). Entrapment of hydrophobic drugs in nanoparticle monolayers with efficient release into cancer cells. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 131(4), 1360-1361.
- Kim, D., Park, S., Lee, J. H., Jeong, Y. Y., & Jon, S. (2007). Antibiofouling polymer-coated gold nanoparticles as a contrast agent for in vivo X-ray computed tomography imaging. *Journal* of the American Chemical Society, 129(24), 7661-7665.

- Klein, S., Petersen, S., Taylor, U., Rath, D., & Barcikowski, S. (2010). Quantitative visualization of colloidal and intracellular gold nanoparticles by confocal microscopy. *Journal of biomedical optics*, 15(3), 036015.
- Korbekandi, H., Iravani, S., & Abbasi, S. (2012). Optimization of biological synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Lactobacillus casei subsp. casei. *Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology*, 87(7), 932-937.
- Kreibig, U., & Vollmer, M. (1995). Theoretical considerations *Optical properties of metal clusters* (pp. 13-201): Springer.
- Kumar, C. S., Raja, M., Sundar, D. S., Antoniraj, M. G., & Ruckmani, K. (2015). Hyaluronic acid cofunctionalized gold nanoparticle complex for the targeted delivery of metformin in the treatment of liver cancer (HepG2 cells). *Carbohydrate polymers, 128*, 63-74.
- Kumar, K. S., Kumar, G., Prokhorov, E., Luna-Bárcenas, G., Buitron, G., Khanna, V., & Sanchez, I. (2014). Exploitation of anaerobic enriched mixed bacteria (AEMB) for the silver and gold nanoparticles synthesis. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 462*, 264-270.
- Lee, S., Molina, L. M., López, M. J., Alonso, J. A., Hammer, B., Lee, B., . . . Pellin, M. J. (2009). Selective propene epoxidation on immobilized Au6–10 clusters: the effect of hydrogen and water on activity and selectivity. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 48*(8), 1467-1471.
- Letscher-Bru, V., & Herbrecht, R. (2003). Caspofungin: the first representative of a new antifungal class. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, *51*(3), 513-521.
- Lévy, R., Thanh, N. T., Doty, R. C., Hussain, I., Nichols, R. J., Schiffrin, D. J., . . . Fernig, D. G. (2004). Rational and combinatorial design of peptide capping ligands for gold nanoparticles. *Journal of the American Chemical Society, 126*(32), 10076-10084.
- Li, C., & Wang, L. V. (2009). Photoacoustic tomography and sensing in biomedicine. *Physics in Medicine & Biology*, *54*(19), R59.
- Li, W.-R., Xie, X.-B., Shi, Q.-S., Zeng, H.-Y., You-Sheng, O.-Y., & Chen, Y.-B. (2010). Antibacterial activity and mechanism of silver nanoparticles on Escherichia coli. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, *85*(4), 1115-1122.
- Li, X., Xu, H., Chen, Z.-S., & Chen, G. (2011). Biosynthesis of nanoparticles by microorganisms and their applications. *Journal of Nanomaterials, 2011*.

- Liang, Z.-Q., Srinivasan, S., Kim, Y.-J., Kim, H.-B., Wang, H.-T., & Yang, D.-C. (2011). Lactobacillus kimchicus sp. nov., a β-glucosidase-producing bacterium isolated from kimchi. *International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology*, *6*1(4), 894-897.
- Liu, W., Yang, X., & Xie, L. (2007). Size-controlled gold nanocolloids on polymer microspherestabilizer via interaction between functional groups and gold nanocolloids. *Journal of colloid and interface science*, 313(2), 494-502.
- Liu, X., Wu, N., Wunsch, B. H., Barsotti Jr, R. J., & Stellacci, F. (2006). Shape-Controlled Growth of Micrometer-Sized Gold Crystals by a Slow Reduction Method. *Small*, *2*(8-9), 1046-1050.
- Love, J. C., Estroff, L. A., Kriebel, J. K., Nuzzo, R. G., & Whitesides, G. M. (2005). Self-assembled monolayers of thiolates on metals as a form of nanotechnology. *Chemical reviews*, *105*(4), 1103-1170.
- Luk'yanchuk, B., Zheludev, N. I., Maier, S. A., Halas, N. J., Nordlander, P., Giessen, H., & Chong, C.
 T. (2010). The Fano resonance in plasmonic nanostructures and metamaterials. *Nature materials*, 9(9), 707.
- Mabena, L. F., Ray, S. S., Mhlanga, S. D., & Coville, N. J. (2011). Nitrogen-doped carbon nanotubes as a metal catalyst support. *Applied Nanoscience*, 1(2), 67-77.
- Machado, S., Pacheco, J., Nouws, H., Albergaria, J. T., & Delerue-Matos, C. (2015). Characterization of green zero-valent iron nanoparticles produced with tree leaf extracts. *Science of the total environment, 533*, 76-81.
- Maeda, H., Wu, J., Sawa, T., Matsumura, Y., & Hori, K. (2000). Tumor vascular permeability and the EPR effect in macromolecular therapeutics: a review. *Journal of controlled release*, 65(1-2), 271-284.
- Maier, S. A. (2007). *Plasmonics: fundamentals and applications*: Springer Science & Business Media.
- Mansoori, G. A. (2005). *Principles of nanotechnology: molecular-based study of condensed matter in small systems*: World Scientific.
- Markus, J., Mathiyalagan, R., Kim, Y.-J., Abbai, R., Singh, P., Ahn, S., . . . Yang, D. C. (2016).
 Intracellular synthesis of gold nanoparticles with antioxidant activity by probiotic
 Lactobacillus kimchicus DCY51T isolated from Korean kimchi. *Enzyme and microbial technology*, *95*, 85-93.
- Mie, G. (1908). Articles on the optical characteristics of turbid tubes, especially colloidal metal solutions. *Ann. Phys*, *25*(3), 377-445.

- Mout, R., Moyano, D. F., Rana, S., & Rotello, V. M. (2012). Surface functionalization of nanoparticles for nanomedicine. *Chemical Society Reviews*, *41*(7), 2539-2544.
- Mukherjee, P., Bhattacharya, R., Bone, N., Lee, Y. K., Patra, C. R., Wang, S., . . . Yaszemski, M. J. (2007). Potential therapeutic application of gold nanoparticles in B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia (BCLL): enhancing apoptosis. *Journal of nanobiotechnology, 5*(1), 4.
- Mukherjee, P., Senapati, S., Mandal, D., Ahmad, A., Khan, M. I., Kumar, R., & Sastry, M. (2002). Extracellular synthesis of gold nanoparticles by the fungus Fusarium oxysporum. *ChemBioChem*, 3(5), 461-463.
- Murphy, C. J., Gole, A. M., Stone, J. W., Sisco, P. N., Alkilany, A. M., Goldsmith, E. C., & Baxter, S.
 C. (2008). Gold nanoparticles in biology: beyond toxicity to cellular imaging. *Accounts of chemical research*, *41*(12), 1721-1730.
- Murray, C. B., Kagan, a. C., & Bawendi, M. (2000). Synthesis and characterization of monodisperse nanocrystals and close-packed nanocrystal assemblies. *Annual Review of Materials Science*, *30*(1), 545-610.
- Nair, B., & Pradeep, T. (2002). Coalescence of nanoclusters and formation of submicron crystallites assisted by Lactobacillus strains. *Crystal growth & design*, *2*(4), 293-298.
- Naja, G., Hrapovic, S., Male, K., Bouvrette, P., & Luong, J. H. (2008). Rapid detection of microorganisms with nanoparticles and electron microscopy. *Microscopy research and technique*, 71(10), 742-748.
- Nativo, P., Prior, I. A., & Brust, M. (2008). Uptake and intracellular fate of surface-modified gold nanoparticles. *ACS nano*, *2*(8), 1639-1644.
- Ngoy, J. M., Wagner, N., Riboldi, L., & Bolland, O. (2014). A CO2 capture technology using multiwalled carbon nanotubes with polyaspartamide surfactant. *Energy Procedia, 63*, 2230-2248.
- Paciotti, G. F., Myer, L., Weinreich, D., Goia, D., Pavel, N., McLaughlin, R. E., & Tamarkin, L. (2004).
 Colloidal gold: a novel nanoparticle vector for tumor directed drug delivery. *Drug delivery*, *11*(3), 169-183.
- Pan, Y., Leifert, A., Ruau, D., Neuss, S., Bornemann, J., Schmid, G., ... Jahnen-Dechent, W. (2009).
 Gold nanoparticles of diameter 1.4 nm trigger necrosis by oxidative stress and mitochondrial damage. *Small, 5*(18), 2067-2076.
- Pan, Y., Neuss, S., Leifert, A., Fischler, M., Wen, F., Simon, U., . . . Jahnen-Dechent, W. (2007). Sizedependent cytotoxicity of gold nanoparticles. *Small, 3*(11), 1941-1949.

References

- Panda, T., & Deepa, K. (2011). Biosynthesis of gold nanoparticles. *Journal of nanoscience and nanotechnology*, *11*(12), 10279-10294.
- Park, S., Sinha, N., & Hamad-Schifferli, K. (2010). Effective size and zeta potential of nanorods by Ferguson analysis. *Langmuir, 26*(16), 13071-13075.
- Park, Y.-M., Im, A., Joo, E.-J., Lee, J.-H., Park, H.-g., Kang, Y.-H., . . . Kim, Y.-S. (2011). Conjugation of ginsenoside Rg3 with gold nanoparticles. *Bulletin of the Korean Chemical Society, 32*(1), 286-290.
- Paull, R., Wolfe, J., Hébert, P., & Sinkula, M. (2003). Investing in nanotechnology. Nature biotechnology, 21(10), 1144.
- Pernodet, N., Fang, X., Sun, Y., Bakhtina, A., Ramakrishnan, A., Sokolov, J., . . . Rafailovich, M. (2006). Adverse effects of citrate/gold nanoparticles on human dermal fibroblasts. *Small, 2*(6), 766-773.
- Petcu, D., Zaharie, D., Gorgan, D., Pop, F., & Tudor, D. (2007). *MedioGrid: A grid-based platform for satellite image processing*. Paper presented at the Intelligent Data Acquisition and Advanced Computing Systems: Technology and Applications, 2007. IDAACS 2007. 4thIEEE Workshop on.
- Phillips, R. L., Miranda, O. R., You, C. C., Rotello, V. M., & Bunz, U. H. (2008). Rapid and efficient identification of bacteria using gold-nanoparticle–poly (para-phenyleneethynylene) constructs. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 47(14), 2590-2594.
- Pissuwan, D., Niidome, T., & Cortie, M. B. (2011). The forthcoming applications of gold nanoparticles in drug and gene delivery systems. *Journal of controlled release, 149*(1),65-71.
- Podsiadlo, P., Sinani, V. A., Bahng, J. H., Kam, N. W. S., Lee, J., & Kotov, N. A. (2008). Gold nanoparticles enhance the anti-leukemia action of a 6-mercaptopurine chemotherapeutic agent. *Langmuir, 24*(2), 568-574.
- Prathna, T., Chandrasekaran, N., Raichur, A. M., & Mukherjee, A. (2011). Biomimetic synthesis of silver nanoparticles by Citrus limon (lemon) aqueous extract and theoretical prediction of particle size. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 82*(1), 152-159.
- Rai, A., Prabhune, A., & Perry, C. C. (2010). Antibiotic mediated synthesis of gold nanoparticles with potent antimicrobial activity and their application in antimicrobial coatings. *Journal* of Materials Chemistry, 20(32), 6789-6798.

- Rai, M., Yadav, A., & Gade, A. (2009). Silver nanoparticles as a new generation of antimicrobials. Biotechnology advances, 27(1), 76-83.
- Rajathi, F. A. A., Parthiban, C., Kumar, V. G., & Anantharaman, P. (2012). Biosynthesis of antibacterial gold nanoparticles using brown alga, Stoechospermum marginatum (kützing). Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy, 99, 166-173.
- Ramsden, J. J. (1990). What is nanotechnology? Nature (Lond.), 344, 524-526.
- Rea, M. A., Zammit, C. M., & Reith, F. (2016). Bacterial biofilms on gold grains implications for geomicrobial transformations of gold. *FEMS microbiology ecology, 92*(6).
- Richard, P. (1959). Feynman. 電磁気. ファインマン物理学, 3.
- Roco, M. (2007). Handbook on nanoscience, engineering and technology: Taylor & Francis.
- Romero, M., Cantón, E., Pemán, J., & Gobernado, M. (2005). Antifúngicos inhibidores de lasíntesis del glucano. *Rev Esp Quimioterap, 18*(4), 281-299.
- Rosi, N. L., Giljohann, D. A., Thaxton, C. S., Lytton-Jean, A. K., Han, M. S., & Mirkin, C. A. (2006).
 Oligonucleotide-modified gold nanoparticles for intracellular gene regulation. *Science*, *312*(5776), 1027-1030.
- Roth, J. (1996). The silver anniversary of gold: 25 years of the colloidal gold marker system for immunocytochemistry and histochemistry. *Histochemistry and cell biology, 106*(1), 1-8.
- Ruivo, A., Gomes, C., Lima, A., Botelho, M. L., Melo, R., Belchior, A., & de Matos, A. P. (2008). Gold nanoparticles in ancient and contemporary ruby glass. *Journal of Cultural Heritage, 9*, e134-e137.
- Russell, A. W. (2013). Improving legitimacy in nanotechnology policy development through stakeholder and community engagement: Forging new pathways. *Review of policy research, 30*(5), 566-587.
- Salam, H. A., Rajiv, P., Kamaraj, M., Jagadeeswaran, P., Gunalan, S., & Sivaraj, R. (2012). Plants: green route for nanoparticle synthesis. *Int Res J Biol Sci, 1*(5), 85-90.
- Salavati-Niasari, M., Davar, F., & Mir, N. (2008). Synthesis and characterization of metallic copper nanoparticles via thermal decomposition. *Polyhedron, 27*(17), 3514-3518.
- Seo, J. M., Kim, E. B., Hyun, M. S., Kim, B. B., & Park, T. J. (2015). Self-assembly of biogenic gold nanoparticles and their use to enhance drug delivery into cells. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 135*, 27-34.

- Sharma, P., Kumar Mehra, N., Jain, K., & Jain, N. (2016). Biomedical applications of carbon nanotubes: a critical review. *Current drug delivery, 13*(6), 796-817.
- Shedbalkar, U., Singh, R., Wadhwani, S., Gaidhani, S., & Chopade, B. (2014). Microbial synthesis of gold nanoparticles: current status and future prospects. *Advances in colloid and interface science, 209*, 40-48.
- Shin, W.-K., Cho, J., Kannan, A. G., Lee, Y.-S., & Kim, D.-W. (2016). Cross-linked composite gel polymer electrolyte using mesoporous methacrylate-functionalized SiO 2 nanoparticles for lithium-ion polymer batteries. *Scientific reports, 6*, 26332.
- Shukla, R., Bansal, V., Chaudhary, M., Basu, A., Bhonde, R. R., & Sastry, M. (2005). Biocompatibility of gold nanoparticles and their endocytotic fate inside the cellular compartment: a microscopic overview. *Langmuir*, 21(23), 10644-10654.
- Singh, P., Kim, Y. J., Wang, C., Mathiyalagan, R., & Yang, D. C. (2016). Microbial synthesis of flowershaped gold nanoparticles. *Artificial cells, nanomedicine, and biotechnology, 44*(6), 1469-1474.
- Singh, P., Singh, H., Kim, Y. J., Mathiyalagan, R., Wang, C., & Yang, D. C. (2016). Extracellular synthesis of silver and gold nanoparticles by Sporosarcina koreensis DC4 and their biological applications. *Enzyme and microbial technology*, *86*, 75-83.
- Sinha, A., Seelan, S., Tsubota, S., & Haruta, M. (2004). Catalysis by gold nanoparticles: epoxidation of propene. *Topics in catalysis, 29*(3-4), 95-102.
- Slocik, J. M., Naik, R. R., Stone, M. O., & Wright, D. W. (2005). Viral templates for gold nanopartide synthesis. *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, *15*(7), 749-753.
- Smitha, S., & Gopchandran, K. (2013). Surface enhanced Raman scattering, antibacterial and antifungal active triangular gold nanoparticles. *Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecularand Biomolecular Spectroscopy, 102*, 114-119.
- Song, J. Y., & Kim, B. S. (2009). Rapid biological synthesis of silver nanoparticles using plant leaf extracts. *Bioprocess and biosystems engineering*, *32*(1), 79.
- Sperling, R. A., Gil, P. R., Zhang, F., Zanella, M., & Parak, W. J. (2008). Biological applications of gold nanoparticles. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 37(9), 1896-1908.
- Srivastava, S. K., Yamada, R., Ogino, C., & Kondo, A. (2013). Biogenic synthesis and characterization of gold nanoparticles by Escherichia coli K12 and its heterogeneous catalysis in degradation of 4-nitrophenol. *Nanoscale research letters, 8*(1), 70.

- Tai, C. Y., Tai, C.-T., Chang, M.-H., & Liu, H.-S. (2007). Synthesis of magnesium hydroxide andoxide nanoparticles using a spinning disk reactor. *Industrial & engineering chemistry research*, 46(17), 5536-5541.
- Takale, B. S., Bao, M., & Yamamoto, Y. (2014). Gold nanoparticle (AuNPs) and gold nanopore (AuNPore) catalysts in organic synthesis. *Organic & biomolecular chemistry*, *12*(13), 2005-2027.
- Taniguchi, N., ARAKAWA, C., & KOBAYASHI, T. (1974). On the basic concept of 'nano-technology'.
 Paper presented at the Proceedings of the International Conference on Production
 Engineering, 1974-8.
- Thakkar, K. N., Mhatre, S. S., & Parikh, R. Y. (2010). Biological synthesis of metallic nanoparticles. Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine, 6(2), 257-262.
- Thiruneelakandan, G., Vidya, S., Vinola, J., Jayasudha, S., Babu, V., Selvasundhari, L., ... Anthoni,
 S. (2013). Antimicrobial activity of silver nanoparticles synthesized by marine
 Lactobacillus Sp against multiple drug resistance pathogens. *Science, TechnologyandArts Research Journal, 2*(4), 05-09.
- Thorén, P. E., Persson, D., Lincoln, P., & Nordén, B. (2005). Membrane destabilizing properties of cell-penetrating peptides. *Biophysical chemistry*, *114*(2-3), 169-179.
- Tiwari, D. K., Behari, J., & Sen, P. (2008). Application of nanoparticles in waste water treatment 1.
- Tiwari, M., Krishnamurthy, S., Shukla, D., Kiiskila, J., Jain, A., Datta, R., . . . Sahi, S. V. (2016). Comparative transcriptome and proteome analysis to reveal the biosynthesis of gold nanoparticles in Arabidopsis. *Scientific reports, 6*, 21733.
- Tiwari, P. K., & Soo Lee, Y. (2013). Gene delivery in conjunction with gold nanoparticle and tumor treating electric field. *Journal of Applied Physics*, *114*(5), 054902.
- Tsai, C. Y., Shiau, A. L., Chen, S. Y., Chen, Y. H., Cheng, P. C., Chang, M. Y., . . . Wu, C. L. (2007). Amelioration of collagen-induced arthritis in rats by nanogold. *Arthritis & Rheumatism:* Official Journal of the American College of Rheumatology, 56(2), 544-554.
- Turkevich, J. (1951). J. Turkevich, PC Stevenson, and J. Hillier, Discuss. Faraday Soc. 11, 55 (1951). Discuss. Faraday Soc., 11, 55.
- Uboldi, C., Bonacchi, D., Lorenzi, G., Hermanns, M. I., Pohl, C., Baldi, G., . . . Kirkpatrick, C. J. (2009). Gold nanoparticles induce cytotoxicity in the alveolar type -II cell lines A549 and NCIH441. *Particle and fibre toxicology, 6*(1), 1.

- Valden, M., Lai, X., & Goodman, D. W. (1998). Onset of catalytic activity of gold clusters on titania with the appearance of nonmetallic properties. *science*, *281*(5383), 1647-1650.
- Venkatesan, R., Pichaimani, A., Hari, K., Balasubramanian, P. K., Kulandaivel, J., & Premkumar, K.
 (2013). Doxorubicin conjugated gold nanorods: a sustained drug delivery carrier for improved anticancer therapy. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 1(7), 1010-1018.
- Verma, A., & Stellacci, F. (2010). Effect of surface properties on nanoparticle–cell interactions. Small, 6(1), 12-21.
- Wadhwani, S. A., Shedbalkar, U. U., Singh, R., Karve, M. S., & Chopade, B. A. (2014). Novel polyhedral gold nanoparticles: green synthesis, optimization and characterization by environmental isolate of Acinetobacter sp. SW30. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 30(10), 2723-2731.
- Wagner, F. E., Haslbeck, S., Stievano, L., Calogero, S., Pankhurst, Q., & Martinek, K.-P. (2000). Before striking gold in gold-ruby glass. *Nature, 407*(6805), 691.
- Wang, B., Wang, J.-H., Liu, Q., Huang, H., Chen, M., Li, K., . . . Chu, P. K. (2014). Rose-bengalconjugated gold nanorods for in vivo photodynamic and photothermal oral cancer therapies. *Biomaterials*, *35*(6), 1954-1966.
- Wang, C., Kim, Y. J., Singh, P., Mathiyalagan, R., Jin, Y., & Yang, D. C. (2016). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles by Bacillus methylotrophicus, and their antimicrobial activity. *Artificial cells, nanomedicine, and biotechnology, 44*(4), 1127-1132.
- Wang, G., Stender, A. S., Sun, W., & Fang, N. (2010). Optical imaging of non-fluorescent nanoparticle probes in live cells. *Analyst*, *135*(2), 215-221.
- Wang, L., Liu, Y., Li, W., Jiang, X., Ji, Y., Wu, X., . . . Wei, T. (2010). Selective targeting of gold nanorods at the mitochondria of cancer cells: implications for cancer therapy. *Nano letters*, *11*(2), 772-780.
- Wang, S.-H., Lee, C.-W., Chiou, A., & Wei, P.-K. (2010). Size-dependent endocytosis of gold nanoparticles studied by three-dimensional mapping of plasmonic scattering images. *Journal of nanobiotechnology*, 8(1), 33.
- Wang, Y., Black, K. C., Luehmann, H., Li, W., Zhang, Y., Cai, X., . . . Kim, P. (2013). Comparison study of gold nanohexapods, nanorods, and nanocages for photothermal cancer treatment. *ACS nano*, *7*(3), 2068-2077.

References

- Widegren, J. A., & Finke, R. G. (2003). A review of the problem of distinguishing true homogeneous catalysis from soluble or other metal-particle heterogeneous catalysis under reducing conditions. *Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical, 198*(1-2), 317-341.
- Wilcoxon, J., & Abrams, B. (2006). Synthesis, structure and properties of metal nanoclusters. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 35(11), 1162-1194.
- Xu, P., Liu, L., Zeng, G., Huang, D., Lai, C., Zhao, M., . . . Wu, H. (2014). Heavy metal-induced glutathione accumulation and its role in heavy metal detoxification in Phanerochaete chrysosporium. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, *98*(14), 6409-6418.
- Yeo, E. L. L., Joshua, U., Cheah, J., Neo, D. J. H., Goh, W. I., Kanchanawong, P., . . . Kah, J. C. Y. (2017). Exploiting the protein corona around gold nanorods for low-dose combined photothermal and photodynamic therapy. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B, 5*(2), 254-268.
- York, J., Spetzler, D., Hornung, T., Ishmukhametov, R., Martin, J., & Frasch, W. D. (2007). Abundance of Escherichia coli F 1-ATPase molecules observed to rotate via singlemolecule microscopy with gold nanorod probes. *Journal of bioenergetics and biomembranes*, 39(5-6), 435-439.
- Yousef, J. M., & Danial, E. N. (2012). In vitro antibacterial activity and minimum inhibitory concentration of zinc oxide and nano-particle zinc oxide against pathogenic strains. *Journal of Health Sciences*, 2(4), 38-42.
- Zagaynova, E., Shirmanova, M., Kirillin, M. Y., Khlebtsov, B., Orlova, A., Balalaeva, I., ... Kamensky,
 V. (2008). Contrasting properties of gold nanoparticles for optical coherence tomography:
 phantom, in vivo studies and Monte Carlo simulation. *Physics in Medicine & Biology*,
 53(18), 4995.
- Zhang, T., Chen, P., Sun, Y., Xing, Y., Yang, Y., Dong, Y., ... Liu, D. (2011). A new strategy improves assembly efficiency of DNA mono-modified gold nanoparticles. *Chemical Communications*, 47(20), 5774-5776.
- Zhang, X., Qu, Y., Shen, W., Wang, J., Li, H., Zhang, Z., ... Zhou, J. (2016). Biogenic synthesis of gold nanoparticles by yeast Magnusiomyces ingens LH-F1 for catalytic reduction of nitrophenols. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 497, 280-*285.
- Zhang, Y., Chu, W., Foroushani, A. D., Wang, H., Li, D., Liu, J., . . . Yang, W. (2014). New gold nanostructures for sensor applications: a review. *Materials*, *7*(7), 5169-5201.

78

- Zhang, Y., Cui, X., Shi, F., & Deng, Y. (2011). Nano-gold catalysis in fine chemical synthesis. *Chemical Reviews*, 112(4), 2467-2505.
- Zharov, V. P., Galanzha, E. I., Shashkov, E. V., Khlebtsov, N. G., & Tuchin, V. V. (2006). In vivo photoacoustic flow cytometry for monitoring of circulating single cancer cells and contrast agents. *Optics letters*, *31*(24), 3623-3625.
- Zhou, Y., Wang, C., Zhu, Y., & Chen, Z. (1999). A novel ultraviolet irradiation technique for shapecontrolled synthesis of gold nanoparticles at room temperature. *Chemistry of materials, 11*(9), 2310-2312.